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Preface 
A friendly conversation between you and me 

 
My dear friend, despite the fact that I have lived away from Iran for more than forty years, I would like to have a 
friendly chat with you.   

Unlike my other book, Iran & America: Rekindling A Love Lost, which was a formal and scholarly book aimed at 
enlightening the American statesmen and public about Persian history and culture, with the goal of preventing a 
military attack on Iran, I wrote this book in a simple and sincere way, as if two very close friends are discussing an 
issue. This way, I hope we will be able to find the facts about a personality whom everybody believes had a 
fundamental impact (good or bad) on Iran. I also wish and hope that this book can spark the love for Iran in you and 
the millions of young Iranian boys and girls who will build the future of the country. 

Further, I ask of you a huge favor: I would like you to put yourself in Reza Shah’s place, at that time in history, and 
honestly and sincerely think and imagine that if you were in his place, what decision would you make, what action 
would you take. In return, you can e-mail me at badi@badi.net and opine and/or ask anything about Iran that you 
want to discuss. I promise I will gladly respond and share with you anything I know, because as long as I live, I will 
love Iran and Iranians, and my wish is freedom and relative prosperity for all Iranians of any ethnicity, religion and 
political persuasion. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Since it included numerous photos of heads of various Iranian tribes and ethnic groups, I thought perhaps I should 
scan the entire book and put it online to eternalize it. This would probably give a chance to the grandchildren and 
great-grandchildren of these men to see and learn about them. Then I thought, well, what if the descendants, who 
are probably scattered all over the world, are not able to read Persian? I would translate it, I decided. I then asked 
myself another question: What if they have no idea who Reza Shah was and what he had done for the country? It 
occurred to me that perhaps millions of young Iranians under the Islamic Republic regime in Iran might have the 
same question. I then decided to write a longer book with more detailed information for the youth of Iran, with the 
hope that they might get inspired to liberate the country. That thought led me to years of research.  

 

The idea of writing this book 
came to me when, one day, 
among the books I had inherited 
from my esteemed and dear 
friend, Dr. Yahya Armajani, a 
history professor in the United 
States, I found a small book, 
Commemoration: Gathering of 
Tribal Chiefs in Tehran At the 
Funeral of the Late Reza Shah 
the Great. The book had been 
published in August 1950. 
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One of the valuable sources I found was the thousands of pages of historical documents of the United Kingdom 
government, which have been declassified in the not too distant past, and are available at the U. K. National 
Archives. I will have to say that many scholars, such as Dr. Cyrus Ghani and Dr. Houshang Sabahi had already spent 
a lot of time and energy on these documents, going through them and quoting them in their books. I utilized them 
as a guiding light, and I am grateful for it. What I have done in this book—and as far as I am aware, has not been 
done hitherto—is providing photographic images of these documents, as it is said, ‘a picture is worth a thousand 
words’, and ‘seeing is believing’. Out of over five hundred documents, I have selected about one hundred to be 
included in this book. I wish to ask for your indulgence for the low quality of the pictures of these old documents. 
That is the best that I could do. 

I wish, after reading this book, we all will be able to reach a consensus on the following conclusion: In the multi-
player political chess game of the world, in various periods of time, there have always existed some countries that 
have had the upper hand and have attempted to push their will on others: Russia and Britain, Russia and the United 
States, China and the United States. There have been, and will be, times when other countries such as Germany, 
Australia, Israel, Brazil, France, Saudi Arabia, Japan, India…forge alliances with the big powers and push an agenda 
collectively against other countries. Any country, where freethinking and selfless men and women, smartly and 
without emotions, study the world’s political, military and socioeconomic situation, and with regard to the laws of 
their own country, lead their country to strike a deal beneficial to their own country with influential powers, will 
achieve peace, tranquility, security, economic expansion and prosperity for the country they love. On the contrary, 
if based on empty and elusive slogans void of wisdom and pragmatism, emotionally lead their country to a 
prolonged, useless antagonism against the powers to be, cause their own citizens an ever-present anxiety and 
paranoia of enemy attack, economic stagnation, joblessness and suffocating inflation. A good example is oil-rich 
Venezuela, where its citizens have been forced to sell their pride, their bodies, their children and even their own 
hair in order to get a loaf of bread.  

 

 

 

Finally, in order for you to have 
an image of your friend, who is 
speaking with you through the 
book, I post a photo for you.               
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The World, Middle East & Iran’s situation at the time of Reza Shah’s 
rise 

First, let’s review very concisely the history of Iran, as our history is like our Shenasnameh—Identity Certificate. A 
person without an I.D. Certificate would be ignorant about his/her ancestry, his/her roots. Also, knowledge of our 
past could be used as a guiding light for our future.   

Nobody knows with certainty when the history of humankind starts. Fossilized skulls recently discovered lead to a 
new theory that believes the start of human beings is about 3.8 million years ago. I am not aware of the existence 
of such skulls in Iran, but I think it would be worth mentioning that I have seen rock paintings in Lorestan that have 
been estimated by Professor Mc Burney of Cambridge University to be from 42,000 years ago. That is 40,000 years 
prior to Jesus and Mohammad! 

 

Cyrus the Great, the Achaemenid king unites Persians and Medes (Kurds) and establishes the world’s first 
documented empire. The most important characteristic of Cyrus, which exalts him above all world leaders to a 
super-human hero, is his respect for equal rights of human beings of all races, ethnicities, cultures and religious 
beliefs. The Cyrus Cylinder, found in Babylon and being kept at the British Museum, reflect his thoughts. That is why 
it is widely considered as the first declaration of Human Rights and a source of pride for Iranians. 

 
 

His other distinguished trait is his fair and just administration of twenty-eight countries within his vast empire. His 
reputation causes a Greek philosopher and historian called Xenophon to write his famous Cyropaedia, also spelled 
Cyropedia, which became a training manual for kings and statemen for centuries as well as an inspiration for the 
founding fathers of the United States in their structure of government and the U.S. Constitution.   
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I would be remiss if I didn’t mention that the people of Egypt, a country that was part of the Persian Empire for over 
seventy years, bestowed the title of Pharaoh on Emperor Darius the Great to show their gratitude. This was because 
he brought Persian artisans to bring water to the arid country by constructing Kariz (Qanat), an ancient underground 
aqueduct system recognized by UNESCO as a World Heritage entity.   

The same emperor navigated through the Pars Sea (Persian Gulf), went around Saudi Arabia, and in order to get to 
the Mediterranean Sea, had a canal dug in the vicinity of today’s Suez Canal. He had this marvel inscribed in three 
large tablets, one of which is kept at the Cairo Museum.   

These are three magnificent deeds of many that show our ancestors’ genius contributions to the world, things that 
cannot be ignored by anybody.      

 

Unfortunately, after about two hundred years, the Persian statesmen fell to corruption to the point that Alexander 
of Macedonia, a military genius, defeated the Persian Empire and proudly donned Darius the Third’s robe. This he 
did, because he took pride in the Persian culture and civilization. Alexander, who had developed a tremendous 
amount of respect for Cyrus after reading Xenophon’s Cyropedia, severely punished some of his soldiers when he 
heard that they had desecrated his tomb. I should add that it is believed that upon Alexander’s setting on fire the 
palace of Persepolis, the eastern wall of Apadana palace collapsed. During excavations in 1933-34, close to 14,000 
small tablets were discovered under that wall, some which have been translated at the University of Chicago. They 
reveal an amazing array of regulations concerning work, wages, and methods of payment for skilled and unskilled 
men, women and children. They had a severance pay and unemployment benefit, where a worker would receive 
about three months of wages and benefits upon his/her termination. These documents can be considered as the 
world’s first labor laws. Also revealed were laws regarding kindness to animals such as dogs that were trained and 
utilized in people’s daily life. It was only after the advent of Islam that dogs lost their popularity. 
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I have had the personal honor to have had several 
meetings with Professor Abdolmajid Arfaei, both at 
the Iran National Museum as well as in the U.S., and 
I learned a lot from him. He is the only person who 
has dedicated over 50 years of his life to identifying 
and translating the tablets. I have also had the 
pleasure of touching a few of these tablets, thereby 
trying to connect with my good-thinking ancestors.  

Upon his return from India, Alexander fell ill in 
Babylon, southern Iraq, and died after 12 days of 
excruciating pain. Much has been written about his 
illness, but recently, a medical professor from New 
Zealand, has offered a new theory. She argues that 
Alexander had GBS, a rare but serious immune 
disorder that caused him paralysis to the point that 
he couldn’t even speak. She argues that his body had 
shut down, but his brain was alive. The doctors at 

that time used to rely on breath, not pulse, to determine if a patient was alive or dead, and since they could not 
notice his breathing, they pronounced him dead six days before his brain died.   

A bloody power-grabbing war broke out among his lieutenants and lasted about forty years. Ultimately, Alexander’s 
empire was split into three pieces. Persian territories all the way to the Chinese borders came under the Seleucids 
rule for close to 160 years; however, based on the admission of those in the know, the Macedonian/Greek culture 
was unable to overcome the Persian culture. 

With the rise of Parthians/Ashkanians, Iran was revived. Ashkanian kings brought back to the motherland lost 
territories from near Chinese borders to Armenia (part of today’s Turkey) to parts of Iraq, Syria, all the way to the 
territories in south of Persian Gulf (today’s Kuwait, Emirates, Oman…). The Persian hegemony extended to about 
464 years. A proud and fascinating point about this era is that it enjoyed a true constitutional monarchy. Ratification 
of laws, important appointments, and even selection of kings went through two houses of parliament, the 
Mehestan. It was during this period, about 36 B.C. when Persian warriors dealt such a huge defeat to the renowned 
Roman commander, Marcus Antonius (Mark Antony) and his 200,000 men, which caused him to flee and cling to 
the skirt of Cleopatra in Egypt. The historian, Plutarch, estimated the number of Persian forces to only 80,000.   

The most important event in this era was adoption of Mithraism as the official religion of the government. Per 
writings of two renowned Iranian scholars and linguists, professors Zabih Behrooz and Mohammad Moghaddam, 
Mehr or Mithra was born on December 25 in 272 B.C. This religion was adopted by many people who spread it from 
China in the east, to Ireland in west Europe, to the point that in the fourth century after Christ, close to 90% of the 
members of the Roman army where followers of Mithra. That is when the Cesar, Constantin ordered that everybody 
must convert to Christianity. It was after this order that Mithraic worship temples, Mehrabe´ مهرابه, which were built 
underground (resembling a cave) throughout the Roman Empire, were either destroyed or filled with dirt and 
churches were constructed on top of them. Today, the most accessible one can be visited in the basement of Basilica 
Di San Clemente, just a couple of hundred yards from the Colosseum/Coloseo in Rome, Italy. Here is a map I have 
borrowed from Google that shows the location of this ancient temple (red indicator). 
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After 464 years of Parthian/Ashkani hegemony, it was the Sassanid/Sassanian era’s turn to expand on the fame, 
fortune and fine Persian culture to shine on the world for more than 420 years! Shapour, the Sassanid emperor, 
after a 15-year war, ultimately defeated the Roman forces in Edessa (middle of today Turkey) and captured the 
Roman Emperor, Valerian, and 70,000 Romans. The capture of the first Roman emperor as a prisoner of war, which 
caused shock and instability throughout the Roman Empire, was eternalized in the rock carvings at Naghshe´ 
Rostam, near Persepolis. 

 

 

 

 
The world’s first university, Gondishapour, was one of the three Sassanian centers of education where medicine, 
science, philosophy and arts were taught. It became the most important medical center in the world!   

Khosrow Anushirvan was so progressive in the ancient world that about 1,500 years ago, he ordered a census to be 
conducted throughout the empire, not only for human beings, but also for domesticated animals and palm and olive 
trees! In this era, women attended discussions and formal parties and went hunting with men. Girls had the freedom 
of choosing their husbands; women had the right to divorce. It was in this period of enlightenment that two Persian 
women, Purandokht and Azarmidokht, ruled the empire as queens. By the way, when chess was brought from India 
to the court of Anushirvan, he ordered a game to be devised in response, and Iranians invented Backgammon.  
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During the 420 years of Sassanian dynasty, Persian civilization, culture and arts—especially music—reached its 
zenith so much so that some scholars have named that era the Persian Renaissance. The Sassanian culture had a 
deep impact of the cultures of the Roman Empire, Western Europe, India, Turkestan, China, and Africa. The Romans 
adopted the Persian army’s structure and warring methods, the court protocol and government administration. It 
is believed that today’s western diplomatic protocol is based on the Perso-Roman diplomatic relations.  

Another interesting point is that the Babylonian Talmud (the central text of Jewish civil and ceremonial law) was 
compiled in 37 volumes by Persian Jews in the capital of the Persian Empire. This, in itself, is a testament to the 
existence of equality among all Persians in the Sassanid era. It is also noteworthy that this Talmud, also known as 
the Persian Talmud, is still utilized today and is favored by many people over the Jerusalem Talmud! 

The disaster for Iran started when Khosrow Parviz deviated from humanity, neglected his forefathers’ virtues and 
replaced them with warmongering and bloodshed, especially with the Byzantine Empire, and thus caused the 
destruction of the four-hundred-year dynasty of the Sassanids. Unlike Cyrus the Great, who upon conquer of 
Babylon, had liberated the Jews and had ordered their dilapidated temples to be rebuilt (that is why he is admired 
in the Old Testament as God’s Shepard and the anointed one). He, who had captured today’s Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, 
Israel…brought the revered “True Cross,” a cross believed to be the original cross upon which Jesus had been 
crucified, to the capital of Ctesiphon. The Byzantine emperor, Heraclius, who like Khosrow Parviz, had made war a 
habit of his, six years later reached the Persian capital; however, after so many years of war, neither army had any 
more vigor; he just reclaimed the cross and left.   

At this juncture of history, Omar, the Caliph of Moslems, who saw Moslem had forgotten the Islamic brotherhood 
in only three years after the death of their prophet, and were engaged in wars amongst themselves, employed his 
genius by promising the nomadic Arabs of the desert two options: if they, instead of killing each other, followed him 
in wars to expand Islam, and were victorious, they would divide the war loots, including girls and women. If, on the 
other hand, they got killed, they would be considered a martyr in the path of Allah, thus entering Paradise and 
enjoying all the heavenly blessings, including lots of women! It is said that when Bedouin Arabs captured the 
Sassanid palace and saw all that wealth, food, wine, they thought they had been killed and were already in Paradise! 
After realizing that they had captured the earthly paradise, they cut the gem-studded Baharestan Persian rug (as big 
as a football field) into pieces with their daggers and took them as their loot.   

If you wish to find out a little bit about the killings, savagery, tyranny and oppression committed by Arabs on 
Persians, try to read an uncensored version (published before the Islamic revolution of 1979) of Do Qarn Sokut (Two 
Centuries of Silence) دو قرن سکوت, written by Abdolhossein Zarrinkoub. I hope after reading it, you would refrain 
from cursing me! 

By the way, I remember about 65 years ago when I was in elementary school, it was written in our books that 
prophet Mohammad ended the era of ignorance, تجاهل�  . This was written in a way that I, as a schoolboy, thought 
that the entire world had been in the dark ages of ignorance. Later on, when I was made aware of the humanistic 
culture of Cyrus the Great and my good-thinking ancestors, the Greek, Roman, Indian, Chinese, Japanese… cultures 
all of which had flourished thousands of years before Islam, I realized how childish and unwise my understanding 
had been! 

The unfortunate thing is that some Persians became slavish servants of the invading Arabs, and helped the desert 
people who hadn’t even dreamt of running an empire. The result was creation of an Islamic empire that expended 
through Europe all the way to the gates of Vienna in the north, and North Africa through Morocco, and Spain and 
Portugal in southwest Europe. It has been claimed that this period of time developed into an Islamic golden age. 
Nothing could be farther from the truth! I had the honor of having taken a course at Pahlavi University with Richard 
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N. Frye, Professor Emeritus of Iranian Studies at Harvard University. He, who had willed to be buried in Iran, the 
country he loved, had written and kept saying that if one takes the contributions of greater Iran (Iranian plateau 
including Armenia, Azarbaijan, present Iran, Turkmenistan,  Afghanistan, Tajikistan, Kyrgyzstan, Pakistan, parts of 
India and China) out of the Islamic civilization, what remains would be less than 5 percent! 

The Taherids/Taherian, who were Persian Dehghans/Dehqans in Khorasan area, established the first Persian 
independent dynasty after the Arab conquest in most of present Iranian, Afghanistan, Turkmenistan, Kazakhstan, 
and Tajikistan territories. They were in power for about 52 years. Iran was revived by the Taherids.   

Yaqub Laith Saffar عقوب ل�ث صفار� meaning coppersmith, took control of Sistan, present Afghanistan, Kerman and 
Shiraz, and later on, defeated the Taherids in Khorasan. He declared Persian as the official language of Iran. Yaqub, 
who by scholars’ consensus was very smart and very brave, twice attempted to overthrow the Bani Abbas Islamic 
dynasty, but on his second attempt, having taken Khuzestan province, suddenly fell ill and passed away in 
Gondishapour. Saffarids were in power for about 135 years and caused the Persian culture and language to flourish 
again.    

The Samanids سامان�ان established another Persian dynasty and ruled for 130 years in today’s large parts of Iran, 
Afghanistan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, and parts of Kazakhstan and Pakistan. They, too, 
supported Persian language. The Samanid court was a supporter of notables such as Avicenna  ابن سینا �ا پورسینا (a 
genius in medicine and astronomy whose works were taught for centuries in European universities) and Mohammad 
Zakaria Razi (Rhazes/Al-Razi)  محمد زک��ای رازی (Razi means from the city of Rey, south of Tehran)  a physician, chemist 
and philosopher who discovered alcohol. 

Daylamites  د�لم�ان (from Daylam on the southwest coast of the Caspian Sea) who were divided into Buyid ( ب��ه آل ) 
and Ziyarid (آل ز�ار �ا ز�اری) ruled in central, western, southern Iran and Iraq for about 121 years. The situation of the 
Caliphate in Baghdad had deteriorated so much that in changed hands five times in 14 years! Caliph 
Mostakfi/Mustakfi, who could no longer tolerate his Turkish guards, asked Ali Buyeh for help. Ali sent his own 
brother Ahmad, who had recently invaded Ahvaz, to help. The Caliph of Islam was so excited that Ahmad was named 
the commander in chief. A month later, Ahmad ordered the Caliph to be dragged to his presence. He ordered the 
humiliated Caliph of all Moslems to be thrown into jail. The Caliph’s replacement was someone named al-Muti lillah 
 meaning obedient to Allah, who was truly obedient to Ahmad! To emphasize on their Persian roots, the ,مطیع � 
Buyid kings used to call themselves Shahanshah, king of kings.   

The next Persian dynasty was the Ghaznavids, who were of Turkic origin. They ruled for 224 years on today’s eastern 
parts of Tehran, Esfahan, Bandar Abbas, Afghanistan, Pakistan, Turkmenistan and Kyrgyzstan. The most famous ruler 
was Soltan Mahmoud, who, despite the fact that he had limited knowledge of Persian language, collected scholars, 
writers and poets in his court sometimes forcibly and even by kidnapping! Our own Ferdowsi, who had spent 30 
years composing the epic Shahnameh, had to escape the Soltan’s court!  

The Turco-Persian Saljuq Empire was founded when Tughril/Toghrol defeated Mahmoud Ghaznavi. At the height of 
their power, they had today’s Iran, a large part of Turkey, Syria, Armenia, Afghanistan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan 
and Kyrgyzstan under their rule. They, too, opted Persian as their official language. Their rule extended for about 
157 years.  

The great grandfather of the founder of Khwarazmian or Kharazmshahian dynasty was a slave who was purchased 
by the Saljuqs in the Khorasan area, but through demonstrating immense talent and quality, was able to ultimately 
bring the Khwarazm area under his rule. Kharazmshahian had almost all of present day’s Iran, half of Afghanistan, 
Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan and Kyrgyzstan for about 160 years. Perhaps it could be opined that the biggest mistake 
or miscalculation in the history of Iran, aside from Khosrow Parviz’ stupidity, vis a vis Arabs, was committed by 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Harvard_University
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Mohammad Kharazmshah, which led to the defeat and destruction of Iran by the Mongols. As far as we know, the 
ruler of Otrar or Farab فاراب, a city in today’s Kazakhstan, ordered a caravan of Mongolian tradesmen and 
Genghis/Changiz  ن  envoy executed as spies. Changiz Khan sent representatives to Mohammad Kharazmshah’s چنگ�ی
court, demanding the mayor be punished. Mohammad, who looked down on Changiz Khan, undiplomatically and 
out of sheer foolishness, killed his envoy. It was then that the floodgate of Mongol wrath was opened on Iran and 
killed and destroyed everyone and everything in its path. The only consolation for Persian ever since this destruction 
is that Mohammad’s son, Jalaleddin, defended his country against the Mongols, sacrificing his life for Iran. 

Mongols continued their land grab to the point that the Mongol Empire, at its height, became the vastest empire in 
the history of mankind (25% of the entire world), extending from China, Korea and Vietnam in the east to Russia 
(including Moscow) Hungary and Poland in Eastern Europe, as well as the entire Middle East. The reign of Mongols 
in various territories was about 162 years. 

It is interesting to note that Hulago Khan هلا�و خان, the grandson of Changiz, on the advice of Nasir al-Din Tusi   خواجه
الدین تو�  a Persian polymath and scientist, captured Baghdad, the seat of the Islamic Caliphate. However, since ,نص�ی
people had been indoctrinated to believe that the Caliph is Allah’s representative, and shedding his blood would 
cause heavenly calamity, per Tusi’s suggestion, Calif Mutasim bi’llah م با� معتص , whose name means the one who 
hangs on to Allah, was wrapped into a Felt rug نمد and beaten repeatedly to see if a calamity would befall. They kept 
beating him, but there was no earthquake, no flooding, no thunder, and no fire. The poor creature, the Caliph, who 
was discovered not clung to Allah, passed away. 

Also noteworthy is the fact that the Mongols who had no religion, never put artisans, writers, philosophers, 
intellectuals and people under any religious pressure or censorship. That is why it is said that despite the bloodshed 
and destruction, the Mongol era was the period of freethinking and creativity—in a sense, a renaissance. Alas, some 
Iranians introduced Ghazan Khan to Islam, and the dark clouds of dogma, restriction and repression gradually 
covered the skies.  

Allow me to mention another point that shows how political, military and economic events in the world affect all 
developing countries, including Iran. It would be prudent to always take into consideration the impact of these 
events in the world on Iran. In mid fourteenth century, and at the end of the Mongol Ilkhanin/Ilkhanate dynasty, 
the city of Tabriz in Iran had replaced the economic hub, populous port of Constantinople, present day’s Istanbul. 
Why? Because the Ottoman Empire was growing larger by the day, and their constant wars for conquest in various 
lands had resulted in the blockade of the port by enemies, having a negative impact on trade. Tradesmen 
alternatively selected Tabriz as a new economic hub. So, you see events shaping outside of Iran impacting the 
country, albeit positively in this case. 

The Mongol era, as any other era, ended due to corruption and discord among the leaders, and 
Timur/TaimurTamaerlan/ Gurkani  ت�مور لنگ گورخاین, a Turco-Mongol Persianate, founded the Timurid dynasty that 
lasted more than 131 years. 

Then was the turn for Esmail Safavi, اسماع�ل صفوی believed to be of Kurdish ancestry, whose mother, Martha, was 
Greek. With the help of seven clans of Kurdish, Lur, Turk, Talsehi, Turkman and Persian origin, who were called 
Qezelbash قزلباش (Red-Head, red headgear), all followers of the Sufi order, declared himself king, and in 15 years 
extended Persian borders from Syria in the west to Sind River in the east, and from Caucuses to the Persian Gulf.   

The Ottoman Empire (at its height had territories from near Austria in the north and from Egypt to Sudan, Ethiopia, 
and Algeria in Africa, and present day’s Saudi Arabia and Yemen under its control), kept attacking Persian lands. The 
Safavids, in order to have people defend the homeland against the Ottoman Sunnis with religious zeal, ordered 
Persians to convert to Shi’ism. It is said that the Qezelbash would kill anybody who, as a declaration of being Shi’i, 
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failed to curse Abu Bakr, Omar and Osman. Despite explicit order in the Koran that says: “All believers are brothers” 
(Sūra al-Ḥujurāt/10  سورة الحجرات) (my apologies to women, as they are not taken into consideration in here!), 
destructive and bloody wars and killings between Sunnis of the Ottoman Empire and the Shi’ites of the Persian 
Empire lasted for some 300 years!    

Here, we notice another case of the impact of international affairs impacting Iran. A trade shipping route is 
established by a Portuguese mariner, Vasco da Gama, by rounding a cape in south of Africa. The king of Portugal, 
hoping for lucrative trade with India and countries in the east, calls it Cape of Good Hope. The Portuguese 
established a series of fortified posts from Africa to India and China. The British, who see the route is exclusively 
under the Portuguese control, strike a deal with Ivan the Terrible, czar of Russia, forming Muskovi Company, to 
establish a northern route. It is for this reason that for the first time in history, a British representative of this 
company called Anthony Jenkins, went to visit Shah Tahmasb I. It is said that fanatic Tahmasb, who did not want to 
have anything to do with any “infidel”, ordered the courtiers to cleanse the infidel’s walking trace to the court with 
ash! The British, who were already aware of the spread of superstition and dominance of the clergy over the affairs 
of the country, through their insidious cunning devised a plot in their colonialism by promoting superstition and 
fostering covert friendship with the clergy. And it was from this point in history that the real misfortune of Iran 
started. It is said and believed that later on, British spies who had learned Persian and Arabic languages, gradually 
robed as clergy, and in order to deceive illiterate and ignorant people, would have a premeditated plan for someone 
from the audience to shout that the clergy is a fake. Then, the same person would insist that the accused clergy 
should throw his turban into the fire in the presence of the audience to prove that he is a true mullah! The British 
spy,   having made his turban of fireproof fabric, after some initial reluctance, would throw it into the fire, thus 
making people his true believers and followers!  

In Safavid era, two factors led to increased contacts between Iran and the western world. Keep in mind that these 
contacts were between the rulers, not the people. Due to complete control of the mullahs on the population and 
spread of superstition and ignorance caused by religious dogma, ordinary people would never even fathom to be in 
contact with the progressive world in order to find out about new inventions and development in scientific, medical, 
economic or cultural arenas. The first reason for contact of the Safavid rulers with the west was their antagonism 
against the Ottoman Empire. Europeans shared the same enmity against the Ottomans. The first person to try to 
establish contacts with the west was Shah Abbas. He sent several delegations to the European courts. Several large 
Persian rugs that he had gifted to the European leaders can be seen today at the San Marco Museum, Museo di San 
Marco, in Venice. Shah Abbas suggestion for a simultaneous attack by Persians and Europeans on Ottomans fell on 
deaf ears. The second factor was that the sixteenth century was the beginning of the era of exploration by Europeans 
looking for trade routes outside of the Mediterranean. The Portuguese, who exported spices from India, occupied 
places on Qeshm and Hormoz islands as well as Gambroon/ Gabroon/Gabran  ان  Masqat and ,(later Bandar Abbas)گ�ب
Bahrain. Shah Ismail, who didn’t want to fight the Portuguese, the most powerful empire controlling even parts of 
Indo-China, signed a trade and military agreement with them (against the Ottomans), and thus the gate was opened 
to Portuguese as well as the Spanish in later years. 

108 years later, Shah Abbas signed an agreement with The British East India Company. At its height, this company 
had half of the entire world’s trade, from cotton and silk to opium and slave trade. It is also considered the 
cornerstone of the British Empire. It had total control over the government, lives and fate of the people in the 
subcontinent of India, which included today’s Pakistan. Pakistan was carved out of India several centuries later, in 
1947, and was replaced as Iran’s neighbor. Six years after the agreement with the British East India Company, Persian 
forces demonstrating heroism and bravery, with the help of the British Navy, defeated the Portuguese and kicked 
them out the Persian Gulf. Shah Abbas had a new port built next to Gabran, named Bandar Abbas, Port Abbas.   
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Thus, the British found a way to Iran through this port, and trade was established through branches of British 
companies in the cities of Shiraz and Esfahan. 

By the way, my dear friend, let us strive to make non-Iranians understand that they need to write and pronounce 
some famous Iranian names properly. The straight to the Persian Gulf should be written as Hormoz, not Hormuz. 
Not a single Iranian pronounces it as Hormuz! As nobody spells or pronounces New York as New Yerk, we can 
justifiably ask non-Iranians to spell and pronounce Esfahan (as in establish, Escondido), Kerman (as in Kermit, Kerry), 
not Kirman, which has a derogatory connotation Persian language! Let’s ask international entities, such as the United 
Nations, as well as governments and media such as CNN, Fox, BBC, etc. to spell and pronounce these names 
properly.  

My apologies for digressing a little bit!  

In Safavid era the clergy influence—such as spread of self-flagellation with chains and daggers and chest-beating 
rituals (believed to have roots in the Christian Dark Ages), and divination استخارە instead of logically thinking and 
planning—spread like cancer throughout the royal court and the country to the point that when the superstitious 
Shah Soltan Hossein found out that Mahmoud the Afghan (Hootaki  �محمود هوت ) had reached the gates of the capital 
city, he called the clergy to let him know through divination whether he should defend the country! And since the 
answer was negative, the coward king declared that it was Allah’s will for the Afghan to overthrow and replace the 
Safavid emperor!   

Allow me to site a few good and bad, but informative points. Safavid appointed rulers in Afghanistan treated local 
people so horribly that Mohammad Hashem Asef, author of Rostamoltavarikh رستم التوار�ــــخ, writes that no resident 
of Kabul and Kandahar, neither woman, nor man was spared of being raped by the Qezelbash!  

ده زن و دختر نامدار                قزلباش ننھاد در قندھار نگا   

 زن و دختر و امرد کابلی              زھرسو قزلباش گاد از یلی 

 برآمد زھرسو ز افغان فغان           ز جور قزلباش خواھان امان 

The second point, a positive one, is about a Persian lioness who was born to a family 
that had escaped the Safavid oppression to India, taking residence close to Kandahar. 
She was called Merolnesa  مهرالنسا, and was later renamed Nur Jahan نورجهان after 
marrying Jahangir Shah, India’s emperor. Per Shah Jahan, Nur Jahan evolved into an 
astute advisor, skillful hunter, great diplomat, and great advocate of arts and culture, 
who alongside her husband, ruled the country.  

One of the folktales still recounted by Indians has it that when the emperor was 
captured in a war, it was Nur Jahan who gallantly commanded an army of warriors that 
defeated the enemy and liberated her husband!  

It is important to note that after the passing of Shah Abbas, the Safavid kings’ power and control over Persia started 
eroding. This encouraged the Russians and Ottomans to resume their attacks on Iran. At the same time, the trade 
through the Persian Gulf, which had flourished for quite some time, stagnated due to incapability of the weak 
Safavid kings in keeping the trade routes safe. Even the Dutch abandoned their lucrative trade business in the area 
and moved to the Far East. Lack of trade led to a huge loss of revenues for Iran. 

Sometime after the shameful defeat of Shah Soltan Hossein, his son, Tahmasb II, with the help of Nader Gholi, 
attempted to bring the country back together. Nader, whose intrepidity, heroism and military genius earned him 

Source: Wikipedia 
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the title of Iran’s Napoleon, was at war against the Afghans and Uzbeks on the eastern front when the Ottomans 
started a pre-planned attack on the west. Tahmasb II was defeated, lost all the territory that Nader had conquered 
in the previous year, and signed a humiliating peace treaty with them giving up sovereignty of five cities in the 
Caucasus to the Ottomans. Nader revolted against Tahmasb for signing the treaty and chose his infant son Abbas III 
as king, with himself as regent. During the next three years, Nader defeated the Ottomans in the west, forced 
Russians to withdraw from the northern territories and liberated eastern Iran from the invading Afghans. In 1736 
the infant shah died, and Nader assumed the throne as Nader Shah Afshar and was crowned in the plain of Moghan 
in Azarbaijan, northwest of Iran. During the next 11 years, his main task was to retake the territories lost by later 
Safavids and further to expand the empire. Additionally, he strived to end fratricide among Sunnis and Shi’as and 
rid Iran of the clergy, fanaticism and superstition.   
 
The assassination of Nader Shah led to 12 years of warfare among the many claimants to the vacant throne. The 
victor was Karim Khan, the head of the Kurdish Zand tribe, who ruled Iran with kindness for 21 years. Instead of 
calling himself shah or emperor, he preferred the title of “Advocate of the Peasants.” Karim Khan, rather than killing 
the son of his bitterest enemy, kept the castrated Agha Mohammad Qajar, as an honored guest in his house for 
many years. Upon Karim Khan’s untimely death, this same conniving, brutal, stingy and anti-social person fled Shiraz, 
and after seventeen years of warfare, crowned himself in Tehran as the founder of Qajar dynasty in 1795.    

Perhaps it can be stated that Agha Mohammad Khan may be considered as the last Persian emperor, as upon his 
assassination, other Qajar kings, who instead of tending the affairs of the country, getting abreast of the world’s 
scientific, cultural, economic progress as well as the colonial plots of Britain, Russia, and France, spent most of their 
time on their numerous concubines and dogmatism and fanaticism inherited from the Safavid era. This decay and 
corruption led to the loss of expansive territories such as Turkmenistan, Afghanistan, today’s Pakistan, Caucuses, 
Georgia, Armenia and Azarbaijan, in various wars. In other words, the shame, ignominy and mortification of the fall 
of the Persian Empire was registered during the 129 years of the Qajar dynasty.  

I wish to suggest that if the Safavids had encouraged freedom of thought rather than suffocation of the Persian spirit 
with religious dogma, and if the brightness of the reign of Shah Abbas had been the beginning of an era of excellence 
rather than the end of intellectual ferment which had ushered in the Persian renaissance, then the nearly two 
centuries of relationship with the European countries would have produced leaders who were at least aware of the 
tremendous movements that had rejuvenated the western world and were able to empower Iran relatively so that 
she could protect herself in the world political chess.  But unfortunately, the main seed sown by the Safavids was 
religious fanaticism, and the main crop harvested was superstition and ignorance. The following demonstrates what 
I mean: 

Mehdiqoli Hedayat (Mokhberolsaltaneh   السلطنه مخ�ب ) in his book Khaateraat va Khataraat خاطرات و خطرات, Memories 
& Dangers, writes that he was visiting Abutaleb Sadrolzakerin, one of Tehran’s most famous mullahs. He saw a young 
woman there pleading to the clergy to get her rid of the jinn جن that had possessed her! He let his hand in her 
blouse, moving from one breast to another, up and down, pretending he was trying to catch the jinn. He kept telling 
the gullible young woman that her jinn was a son of a bitch who kept evading him. After a long time, he finally 
pretended that he had captured the jinn, threw it into a bottle and capped it. The woman thanked and left him a 
gold coin. Hedayat asks him, “What kind of charlatanism and trickery is this?” The clergy responds, “These people 
are all possessed by jinns. Some of them go to you, statemen, and some come to me. I will not let you enjoy them 
all!”   

It is said that the debauchery got so bad that Fath-Ali Shah, the successor of Agha Mohammad Khan, instead of 
running the country, got so many wives and temporary wives and concubines that 2000 people claimed to be his 
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children! In Article 3 of the treaty that this devout Moslem king wanted the leader of France to sign between the 
two countries, he requested Napoleon (the infidel) to religiously testify that Georgia was the Halal and inherited 
territory of Fath-Ali Shah! Two months later, Napoleon, defeated by the Russians, signed a treaty per which the 
Russians gobbled up Georgia, the certified Halal loaf of a territory, and drank a glass of vodka on top of it!   

The only person of the entire Qajar dynasty that is left with a good reputation is Abbas Mirza, Fath-Ali Shah’s son 
and his crown prince, who demonstrated immense courage and heroism in wars against Russia and The Ottoman 
Empire. Unfortunately, his father supported him neither financially, nor militarily. As a result, Iran was dealt a huge 
defeat in the second war against Russia as a result of the horrible and shameful treaty of Turkmenchai, signed in 
1828. Fath-Ali Shah, whose name means the victor, not only did not have any victory anywhere, but also lost a total 
of 250,000 square kilometers of Iranian territories, 120,000 square kilometers of the Caspian Sea area and 120,000 
square kilometers of land on the Black Sea. The most ominous part is Article 4 that gives a right to Russia to support 
the Qajar crown princes, whenever necessary, so that no foreigner could interfere in Iranian affairs. The old British 
fox that didn’t want to be left behind, declared his support in this regard. Thus, from then on, a total of five crown 
princes were escorted from Tabriz to Tehran by the Russian and British forces, and Iran came practically under these 
two country’s controls. It is abundantly clear that anybody who wanted to be counted in any way would become 
either Russophile, or Anglophile. This also applied to the court of Qajar, as well.   

In Volume 4 of a book entitled Rejaal-e Iran رجال ایران  , Iran’s Statemen, there is a quote attributed to 
Etemadolsaltaneh, a high-ranking person and confidant to Naseroddin Shah Qajar that reads: “…went to visit 
Zelolsoltan  السلطانظل  (one of Nasseroddin Shah’s sons). The prince made a strange statement that shocked me. I 
wasn’t supposed to hear such a statement from the son of a Persian king. He said, ‘very soon, the country of Iran 
will be divided into three parts, and with the support of the British, with whom I have a close friendship, I will be 
given one major part.’ Territories under the rule and control of Zelolsoltan were per British insinuation, discretion 
and support; and territories under the rule and control of Kamran Mirza, Nasseroddin’s other son and crown prince, 
was per Russia’s wish.”   

Napoleon’s ambassador to Iran, Jaubert, has quoted a statement from Abbas Mirza that confirms what I have 
previously offered. Jaubert writes: Abbas Mirza asked me: ‘I don’t know what power it is that has made you 
dominant over us, what causes our weakness and your progress? You are skillful in fighting and conquering as well 
as utilization of brainpower, whereas we are drowned in ignorance, corruption and sedition, and rarely ponder the 
future.”   

Perhaps we should utilize our brainpower instead of emotion, corruption and sedition.   

Fath-Ali Shah, shortly after his son, Abbas Mirza succumbed to illness in Mashhad, passed away, and Abbas Mirza’s 
son was crowned as Mohammad Shah. He was under the thumb of Russia. He, who proved to be as narrow-minded, 
superstitious and incompetent as his grandfather, in a deal with the Ottomans, gave up the city of Soleimani in 
today’s Iraq in return for them to stop claiming ownership on the Arvandrood river, Mohammareh (Khorramshahr) 
and the Abadan island!   

Nasseroddin Shah, who would take loans against the country to cover his expensive trips to Europe, instead of 
paying attention to the technological economic and cultural advances, would show interest to the short skirts of 
ballet dancers and order his numerous wives and concubines to wear the same type of skirt, shaliteh شلیته, in his 
court! His son, Mozaffareddin Shah, also made three costly trips to Europe with a huge entourage under the disguise 
of getting medical attention. His Prime Minister, Aminolsoltan ن   السلطان, امنی  within a period of two years, took two 
loans from Russia with horrible terms—a detriment effect on the country’s stagnant economy.   
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Yet another calamity befalling Iran was that, per Professor Peter Avery in the Cambridge History of Iran, “…the 
British, alarmed at the growth of Russian influence, gave some money to the leading members of the ‘ulama’ in 
Tehran and in the shrine cities of Iraq to help arouse activity against the Russian-favoured trade agreement.” I don’t 
know why I am suddenly reminded from my childhood a prevalent expression among many people: if you lift the 
clergy’s beard, you will notice it is written, “Made in England.” 

Since admission by the British government of making payments to Iranian and Iraqi clerics for the purpose of 
instigating opposition of the Iranian people against the Russians is of importance, especially in light of the fact that 
it is made by a British professor in a series of publications by Cambridge University Press, I reproduce page 200 of 
this book for your review. I am also including the inside cover of the book with all the pertinent information, along 
with Professor Avery’s own handwritten dedication to me: “With warm regards, Peter Avery, 16 Jan. 98.”    
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Payments to clerics by Britain 
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To provide proof of the meddling of the British in every aspect of affairs in Iran, allow me to quote from a book 
authored by my great grandfather, Shokrollah Sanandaji (Fakhrolkottab) (فخرال�تاب) شکرالله سنند�ب, written in 1900 
and published by Dr. Heshmatollah Tabibi in 1987. He writes of a Kurdish Shaikh, clergy, by the name Abidollah, who 
rebelled by claiming that his father’s spirit had told him to “get out and gather all the tribes’ people together, take 
over the crown in Iran and completely uproot the Rafezis (Shi’i people).” The shaikh spreads leaflets everywhere 
encouraging the tribesmen to rise in Jihad, holy war, stating that the previous shaikh (his father) “has orally made 
the killing of the Shi’i people permissible, and has promised governance as well as Paradise.” He gathers a lot of 
followers and takes several villages and towns including Savojbolagh ساوجبلاغ (Mahabad) and Miandoab , م�اندوآب   
and intended to mount an attack on Orumieh. The British consul, who happened to be the shaikh’s advisor, suddenly 
enters the meeting of the elders of Orumieh and advises them: “Defending the city and fighting against the shaikh 
is not prudent. You’d better surrender and thus protect yourselves from the consequences of fighting against him!” 
Then, he goes to meet with Monsieur Emanuel Golzar, the Bishop of Orumieh Catholics, advising him to “take the 
Catholics out of the city, or raise British flags on top of their houses to become immune from the impending attack.” 
He opined that pretty soon Orumieh will fall to the shaikh’s control as Miandoab did. The Bishop tells him: “You’d 
better, instead of encouraging people to surrender, and worrying about the Armenians, discourage the shaikh from 
following up this corrupt dream…and not murder innocent people.” 

We are now getting to the point of reviewing the declassified British documents that I have obtained from the UK 
National Archives. It should be noted that in 19th and early 20th centuries, they used to refer to ambassadors Minister 
Plenipotentiary. They also used the term Legation for embassy. However, for the sake of simplicity, we will call them 
ambassador and embassy. The first document is parts of a letter from the newly arrived secretary at the British 
embassy where he shares his observations with a colleague/friend named Francis. He writes about the sad situation 
in Iran at the time, the barelegged guard, and the plague that is being ignored by the central government… This 
becomes more depressing when we see evidence of not only paved streets in San Diego, California, but concrete 
sidewalks in 1886 and 1896!  
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Another revealing, depressing and frustrating issue is the corruption of Iranian statemen in the Qajar era observed 
by the French ambassador, Count Joseph Arthur de Gobineau. In his book, Three years in Persia, he writes: “Prior to 
going to Iran, I had obtained a book entitled Haji Baba of Esfahan. I read that during the reign of Fath-Ali Shah, the 
British ambassador had brought some potatoes as a gift for the Persian government, stating that, “Should you 
cultivate this plant in Persia, you will never have famine, as it is easy to farm, produces a lot and can be used as a 
replacement for bread.” The Prime Minister, Mirza Shafi Mazandarani, before accepting the potatoes, asked the 
ambassador: “How much are you willing to pay me to order it cultivated throughout the country?”  

Gobineau writes: At the time I had not been to Persia yet, and I was shocked as to how is it that the prime minister 
of a great country such as Persia asks for a bribe in order to order cultivation of a crop that would benefit the entire 
population of his nation. But now, since I have been living for some time here, I think that story was true. It is 
impossible for you to be dealing with a government employee and get anything done without paying a bribe. 

Mehdi Bamdad in his book, The Persian Statesmen, quotes from Etemadolsaltaneh, who was Naseroddin Shah’s 
interpreter and accompanied him on his trips to Europe: “The shah’s conversations with the ministers is about 
nothing but cash and materials, and Persian government’s politics is exclusively related to money, amassing assets 
and compiling materials, and nothing else.”   

Superintendency of the Armory was bestowed upon the shah’s special adjutant in return for 15,000 tomans a year! 

The shah gave headship of artillery to Eghbalolsaltaneh in return for 5,000 tomans. 

The title of ‘Eghbalolmolk’ was given to Mirza Mohammad Mostofi Nezam, who has recently been appointed as the 
governor of Kordestan after gifting 500 tomans. 

Upon gifting 500 tomans, Mohammad Ebrahim Memarbashi, received the title of ‘Vazir Nezam’ from the shah. 

Mohammad Mostofi Qavamoldoleh, son of Mohammad Taqi Qavamoldoleh, in 1858 gave a huge gift to the shah, 
and was appointed, for the second time, as the governor of Khorasan to replace Hesamolsaltaneh. 

Masoud Mirza a.k.a. Zellolsoltan (shah’s shadow), Naseroddin Shah’s eldest son (from a temporary wife) offered to 
gift the shah 1,000,000 tomans to replace him with his other son, Mozaffareddin, who was from a permanent wife, 
as the crown prince. The shah informs his crown prince in Tabriz of the offer in a letter, perhaps with the hope of 
getting a bigger offer from his crown prince! 

The following document, classified as ‘Secret,’ is from the minutes of the 10th meeting of the War Cabinet’s Easter 
Committee, held on May 28, 1918 at 3:15 P.M. It has a list of attendees under the chairmanship of Lord Curzon, the 
Foreign Minister.   

I have chosen the upper portion of the first page that includes all the attendees’ names, and a portion of page 7 that 
talks about the decision made by the Committee to pay Ahmad Shah a bribe to appoint Vossughed-Dowleh Prime 
Minister! They haggle about the amount by offering 15,000 tomans instead of 20,000, and of course, Sir Charles 
Marling said that “he had given the shah to understand that we would not submit to blackmail.”   
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Minutes of the War Cabinet, payments made to Ahmad Shah 
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Ahmad Shah was an excessive money-grubber. The British ambassador in Persia, Sir Percy Cox, 
in a telegram sent to the Minister of Foreign Affairs on June 8, 1920, writes: Vossughed-Dowleh 
said that no matter on what point his conversation with Ahmad Shah starts, it always ends on 
one specific point, meaning provision of funds the shah wants. The shah, in the most recent 
audience inquired as to why required funds were not sent to him when he was in Europe. The 
amounts that his majesty demands from the government include: 

• 1,000,000 Francs that he had spent from his personal account,  
• 8,000 Liras that he had borrowed from Nosratoldoleh prior to his trip,  
• 50,000 tomans in cash that he had with Tomanians,  

• but the money exchanger is unable to repay due to bankruptcy!   
 

The king expects his destitute subjects to pay for his partying, womanizing and wining and dining in Europe. 
Additionally, he deposits funds with a money exchanger, perhaps for gaining interest, and when the man goes 
bankrupt, he wants the people, who had nothing to do with his transaction, to pay for it! 

The ambassador continues in his telegram: … Shah’s behavior shows that even trips to Europe and seeing the 
behavior and manner of European kings hasn’t had the smallest effect on changing his worst trait, which is his 
excessive money worshipping! 

Ahmad Shah 
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Below are two photos of Ahmad Shah’s favorite place in France. One is Hotel Royal Barrier in the city of Deauville in 
northwest France, and the other depicts the beach city of Biarritz, located in southwest France. The third photo 
shows Sir Percy Cox standing with Farmanfarma and Qavam.  
 

 
Royal Barrier Hotel in Deauville, northwest France 

 
Beach city of Biarritz in southwest France 

 
Percy Cox, Qavam, Farmanfarma 
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British payments to Bakhtiaris 

What is unfortunates is that, based on the UK National Archives’ documents, many of other statemen, including 
Sardar Zaffar Bakhtiari, Farmanfarma and Qavam, demanded and received monthly payment from Britain not only 
for themselves while in Iran, or in exile, but also for their surviving family members in case of their death!  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The next document is related to Farmanfarma and Qavam’s (Kawam/Ghavam). It is the minutes of yet another War 
Cabinet, Eastern Committee meeting that took place on June 21, 1918 at 3 P.M. I found some of discussions among 
the Committee members interesting, therefor, the entire document is in front of your eyes.   
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British payments to Farmanfarma and Qavam 
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In order to alleviate the risk of blood pressures dangerously rising, perhaps we should take a breather and review 
imperialism, colonialism and the world situation in early 20th and prior centuries.   
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The World situation and Colonialism 

Imperialism, colonialism, or as it is said in Persian, world devourment جهانخواری, is as old as human history. What we 
are familiar with started in 15th Century, first by the Portuguese, followed by the Spanish through and discovery of 
America by Christopher Columbus, the Italian explorer, and spread to coastal lands in Africa, the Middle East, India 
and east Asia. In 16th and 17th centuries, Britain, France, Republic of Holland (a small but powerful country founded 
in 1581 and extinguished in 1795, transforming into the first Independent Holland) got into the fray. Later on, 
Belgium, too, entered the arena of colonizing and exploiting other countries and lands. The Ottoman and Japanese 
empires should also be added to the list. 

The map below shows world empires and colonies in 1898. The Peach color shows the extent of the British Empire 
all the way from Canada to South America, the Caribbean, Africa, parts of Saudi Arabia and Oman, India, Nepal, 
Myanmar all the way down to Australia and New Zealand. France (dark blue) has gobbled up huge areas in Africa as 
well as Vietnam in Asia. Russian, in magenta color, has devoured many countries and 17 cities, along with vast areas 
of land from Iran. 

Source: Wikipedia 

A very brief story about China could be a lesson for all of us. During 19th Century, Britain,  France, and even Russia 
sought various excuses to attck China and invade vast territories, including Hong Kong Port as well as the entire 
Indochina countries. An example would be why China attempts to stop illicit sale of opium to its citizens! It is said 
that a few of our own prominent Shirazi people were involved in, and cooperated with, the British in the 
transportation of opium in large ships from India to China. It is funny and shameful that in 1860, during an attack on 
northern China by the Brits and the French, they set palaces in Peking on fire after having looted all the precious 
gold and jewelry they could find. Yet, the ignorant forces could not and did not believe that the looted statues and 
other items were made of real gold, so they either bartered them for wine or disarded them!  On the contrary, the 
Japanese, who had invaded Eastern China and Korea from 1895 to 1945, systematically and methodically searched 
and transferred all the gold and jewelry they could find to Japan and a portion of it to the Phillipines that was under 
their occupation, burying them in 175 huge underground caves. It is claimed that after World War II, the Americans 
discovered them. The amount of the treasure was so enormous that the Americans divided and deposited them in 
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banks throughout the world, including Iran.  Those who are curious to know the economic impact of this event on 
the world are recommended to read a book authored by Sterling & Peggy Seagrave entitled Gold Warriors.   

I brought the above part to your attention to show that Persi or Iran was not the only victim of the world’s big 
powers. The important lesson is that China, despite the fact of being consurrently trampled by the British, the 
French, the Russians, the Germans and the Japanese, has now become one of the economic superpowers of the 
world. This tells us that we, too, can become an economic powerhouse in the world, only if we utilize our brains and 
our knowledge to find the right way to achieve that goal. 

The misfortune faced by Iran was that at the same time that the Portuguese and the Spanish set out to find and 
gobble up the world, our statesmen (sorry, because of our religion, our women never got a chance to become a 
stateswoman), instead of founding friendship with the world’s technologically and culturally advanced countries, 
and thus creating an awareness for themselves and the citizens, embraced more religious zeal and superstition by 
following the clergy, who were called “scholars” just by studying four or five unscierntific and outdated books and 
saw it in their own interest to dumb down people, lead them to not think and to be happy in the face of misery by 
blindly believing it was their preordained desitny. This kind of attitude has encouraged other countries to commit 
political and economic rape of Iran.   

Mehdi Bamdad, in his book entitled The Biography of Statesmen of Iran, quotes Etemadolsaltané, Naseroddin Shah’s 
interpreter who accompanied him in his European trips, as writing: “Naserodin Shah didn’t pay much attention to 
the political articles of [European] newspapers and world’s  important issues, and my reading newspapers for him 
was like a type of storytelling.” He adds: “When I was translating a letter written by the British Minister of Forein 
Affairs to his French counterpart in relation to the issue of Tunisia for the shah, and thought it was of utmost 
importance, the Shah asked Malijak [the court clown]: “Hey boy, where are you planning to spend your summer 
holiday?!’” 

As a child, I think I read in Robinson Crusoe’s story that once he was captured by canibals who intended to eat him. 
Robinson had a pocket calenar that showed, according to science,  the specific night that a lunar eclipse would occur, 
told the canibals that he was friends with gods and he could ask them to eclipse the moon. Once the ignorant 
canibals see the eclipse, instead of eating him, woship him and he exploites them as long as he wishes! It wouldn’t 
be too far off if one considered Iran’s situation during the Ghajar period analogous to this story. The ignorance was 
so profound that a clergy chastized the European-educated scholar, Mohammad Ali Foroughi, for wearing  
priscription glasses—perhaps a symbol of corrupt and infidel West in his hollow brain—on a religious morurning 
day!      

During the last years of the Qajar dynasty, Iran was practically bankrupt. In 1914, the currency, Karan/Qaran, had 
been devalued to one fifth of its value a century earlier. Of course, one could argue that the collapse of the currency 
during the rule of the Islamic Republic has been much worse! During the reign of Mohammad Reza Shah Pahlavi, 
one could buy a U.S. dollar for 70 rials, whereas now the exchange rate has collapsed to 150,000 rials to a dollar! 
That means in 40 years, the Iranian currency’s value drop has been around two thousand-fold! One reason for the 
lethargic economy of the late Qajar era was Russian and British economic policies and exploitation of Iran’s 
resources. Perhaps a more important reason was the widespread corruption starting from the royal court to the 
government, to the huge landowners and the tribal leaders who kept trampling on the rights of farmers and 
peasants by usurping their lands, their only means of subsistence. This forced a lot of poor people to emigrate to 
southern Russia. Statistics show that in 1905, 16 years before Reza Shah’s reign, 300,000 people had gone to Russia 
legally and illegally. The population of Iran at that time, after the great famine, was estimated somewhere between 
7.5 to 10 million. Statistics show that during the same Qajar era, the total number of people engaged in any type of 
industry throughout Iran was less than 850! That means a staggering 0.00011% of the population was involved in 
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production of glass, ceramics, brick, soap, leather, string and calico! According to Fereydun Adamiyat and others, 
concurrent with industrial advancement in Europe, Amir Kabir (Mirza Taghi Khan Farahani), the Prime Minister of 
Naseroddin Shah in the first three years of his reign, started establishing factories in Iran. He sent a few people to 
Europe to learn about weaving broadcloth, manufacturing porcelain and paper. Additionally, he brought a few 
experts from Austria; however, upon his ordered assassination, all that was forgotten and was replaced with giving 
concessions to the Russians and the British. As a result, Iran was lagging behind even the Middle Eastern backward 
countries.   

In order to have a better understanding of the situation in Iran in the late years of the Qajar dynasty and issues that 
led to the rise of Reza Shah, it would be helpful to know about developments in Europe which had an impact on 
Iran.   

First, the most important event that had a profound impact on Europe and the world was the 12 years of the French 
Revolution. The French society was divided into three levels of the clergy, the nobility—including the royal court 
and feudal—and the rest of the people. The collusion between the clergy and the nobility, church and state, had 
placed a heavy yoke on the people. People had to pay 10% of their income to the church. This religious tax was 
called Tithe. Moslem clergy still demand 20% Khoms from their followers! 

France had a rotten administrative and economic system; frivolous wars had led the country to bankruptcy; the 
population had doubled in a short time and people were hungry; people wanted the church and state to be 
separated, and they desired to get rid of the clergy, the nobility and the feudal altogether. 

Intellectuals and philosophers who were inspired by thinkers such as Montesquieu, Voltaire and Rousseau were 
demanding social reforms, elimination of social classes and involvement of people in their own destiny. 
Montesquieu warned that “there is no liberty, if the power of judging be not separated from the legislative and 
executive powers.” 

An election was held for the Estates-General, which had not had any meetings for about 175 years! This assembly 
election occurred to include 300 for the nobility, 300 for the clergy and 600 deputies for the third estate, meaning 
ordinary people. However, from the beginning, the king and the nobility and the clergy started colluding against the 
ordinary people by trying to impose a policy that each class would have one vote! This meant the court and clergy 
would have two votes and people would have one vote! Elected representatives of the ordinary people, who were 
fed up with the nobility and the clergy, declared themselves the National Assembly and occupied the king’s indoor 
tennis court and swore not to disperse until France had a new constitution. The king reluctantly agreed with their 
demands and asked the clergy and the nobles to join the assembly. The assembly was then called National 
Constituent Assembly. At the same time, the king started gathering troops to put an end to the Assembly. The 
Assembly decreed the abolition of the feudal system and of the Tithe, introduced the Declaration of the Rights of 
Man and of the Citizen, proclaimed liberty, equality, the inviolability of property and the right to resist oppression. 
Another achievement of the French Revolution was the nationalization of the lands of the church and the clergy to 
pay off the public debt. It also proclaimed the right of self-determination based on the territory of Avignon, which 
was under control of the Pope, was reunited with France. Then, France declared war against Austria, perhaps 
because the king hoped that he would thus gain more authority, or the foreign army would rescue him. The queen, 
Marie-Antoinette, who was born in Austria, privately encouraged her brother, who was the emperor of Austria, to 
attack and invade France! Initially, France suffered a defeat, but when people heard about it, volunteers joined the 
army and defeated the aggressors. People imprisoned the king and his family in the royal temple. Then, they broke 
into the prisons and massacred the nobles and the clergy there. On September 20, 1792, the same day that the 
French defeated the enemy, a new assembly was formed and was named the National Convention. One day later, 
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the National Convention put an end to monarchy and established a republic government. Louis XVI was condemned 
to death for treason and Marie-Antoinette was guillotined about nine months later. 

Second, a small number of freedom-loving Iranians, about a century after the French Revolution, who had found 
out about Europe’s economic and political advancements (governments that were tasked to run the country, were 
elected either by people, or people’s representatives in a place called the Assembly, or Parliament), aspired to have 
the same type of system in Iran. This was named Mashrooteh وطه  meaning the shah ,(provisional/conditional) م�ش
can be the king provided the running of the country be in the hands of the people’s representatives. It is worth 
mentioning that “Mashrooteh movement” is correct, not “Mashrooteh Revolution.” Unfortunately, many of Iranian 
historians have erroneously using the term revolution in relation to Mashrooteh. The Webster Dictionary defines 
revolution as “the overthrow or renunciation of one government or ruler and the substitution of another by the 
governed.” We know that the people and the leaders of Mashrooteh never intended to overthrow the monarchy. 
What took place in Iran was not a revolution, but a movement. And Mozaffareddin Shah signed a declaration 
called Mashrooteh while he stayed in power. For a good read on the history of the Mashrooteh movement, 
which is generally translated as “Constitutional” movement, one may read the late Ahmad Kasravi’s Tarikhé 
Mashrooteh, the original one that is not censored by the Islamic regime.   

Despite the fact that the good Iranians, after the Japanese, were the first people in the entire continent of Asia 
who aspired such a noble system, it was clear from the beginning that due to the influence of Russia and Britain, 
as well as the lack of knowledge by the majority of Iranians about the world democratic political developments, 
compounded by the blind followership of the illiterate masses of the clergy, the constitutional movement was 
doomed to fail. Remember the story of the clergy who was constantly touching a young woman’s breasts to rid 
her of the jinn? Also, one should remember the conversation between the Persian Prince and the French 
ambassador: “Abbas Mirza asked me: ‘I don’t know what power it is that has made you dominant over us, what 
causes our weakness and your progress? You are skillful in fighting and conquering as well as utilization of brain 
power, whereas we are drowned in ignorance, corruption and sedition, and rarely ponder the future.’”   

Well, in the campaign for constitution, the Russians supported the despotic Qajar kings against the intellectuals, and 
the British, in order to oppose the Russians, decided to support the constitutionalists. The clergy, who didn’t want 
to fall behind and lose their influence over the masses, entered the arena and pushed for replacing Mashrooteh 
with Mashrooeh, meaning everything should be based on Islamic (Shi’ii) Sharia! 

Nazem ol-Eslam Kermani, in his book, Tarikhe-e Bidari-ye Iranian, the History of Persian Awakening, reveals a few 
points that he, himself, might not have noticed: 

Today, the bazaars were closed. Businessmen, seminary students, fabric sellers and money 
exchangers entered the embassy in perfect manner. Embassy staff show absolute good will and 
hospitality. It can be said that the embassy is turned into a school. A number of people have 
gathered under tents and in corners, and a politically learned person, such as students and others, 
is teaching the people [under each tent]; that is, people are hearing new things for the first time 
that not a single person dared to utter hitherto… 

Isn’t it interesting that the people have gathered at the British Embassy? Why should people congregate at a foreign 
embassy? And the embassy is providing people food and drinks! Additionally, a ‘politically learned person’ is 
educating people. Does anybody doubt that those learned people have already been coached by the British? Would 
these ‘learned’ people dare to say anything against the British and their policies? The saddest part is that it shows 
people had no clue about constitutional monarchy, liberty, democracy, etc., and everything was taught to them. 
The poor souls had absolutely no political knowledge! 
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Mozaffareddin Shah signs a decree named Constitution Proclamation. A little study shows how ridiculous and 
misleading this proclamation is: 

Your Excellency, the Prime Minister, whereas God almighty has placed the head thread of 
progress and prosperity of the guarded land of Iran in our (imperial way of saying my) competent 
hand, and has made our august person (how narcissistic!) the guardian of the rights of all citizens 
and our sincere vassals, now therefor at this time when our august will is set on gradual 
implementation of reform laws in governmental and state entities for the welfare and security of 
all citizens of Iran as well as strengthening of the foundation of the government, we have decided 
that [a] National Consultative Assembly of elected Qajar princes, the clergy, grandees/the rich, 
nobility, landlords, and businessmen and guilds elected by their respective class (note that it is 
not the people, but the classes that elect from their own, meaning the clergy select a clergy, the 
rich select a rich person. In other words, he was not thinking about election by the people. 
Additionally, he totally ignores the people and does not bother to even mention them in his 
proclamation!) to be convened at the seat of the government in Tehran to exercise necessary 
consultation and scrutiny (not legislate) on important issues pertaining to the governance and 
public welfare of the country, and provide needed help and assistance to our cabinet ministers in 
reforms that would lead to Iran’s prosperity and happiness, and through the head of the 
government, in complete security and confidence, its ideas in relation to the good of the 
government and the nation and public welfare and the needs of all the citizens to be received and 
signed by our majesty and get implemented. It is self-evident that you shall prepare, based on this 
blessed rescript, the by-laws and regulations and necessary tools of the assembly, and upon 
approval and signatures of the elected persons, to be signed by our majesty and by Allah’s help, 
the said National Consultative Assembly, which shall be the guardian of justice, will be opened 
and begin the needed reforms of the affairs of the country and execution of the sacred religious 
laws, and we also order that the blessed rescript be made public so that all the citizens, as before, 
be informed of our good intentions that are entirely related to the progress of the government 
and the nation of Iran, and keep praying for the permanence of this government and this eternal 
court. At Sahebqaranieh Palace, on August 5, 1906 the eleventh year of our reign.   

Since the king had neglected to mention people in his proclamation, the people started a bast, sit-down. Where? In 
the garden of the British Embassy! This means the situation was so bad and precarious that people were afraid that 
the “just” king’s men might attack and kill them! 

The king issued a supplemental proclamation containing two new tricks: 

… In supplementing our previous rescript dated August 5, 1906, in which we had ordered and 
made a clear proclamation for the establishment of an assembly of the representatives of the 
people (he did not and still does not say so!), again, in order for the entire citizenry and members 
of the nation be aware of our complete attention, we order and establish that the said assembly 
to be formed quickly per previous rescript (meaning selection of the classes of princes, clergy, 
etc.), and after the election of the members… create the by-laws and terms of the Islamic 
Consultative Assembly (here is his second deception as he replaces the word ‘National,’ which 
had been written twice in his first decree, with the ‘Islamic’) … 

It would be useful to remember that Shah Tahmasb I, who because of his religious zealotry and superstition would 
not touch any infidel, had ordered the footsteps of the British infidel to be cleansed with ash. And that the British, 
who were already aware of spread of Islamic superstition and the control of the clergy over the people, being ever 
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shrewd and conniving, found the best way to achieve their goals in promoting superstition, zealotry and covert 
colluding with the clergy, in this case used the same strategy: the gullible protesters take refuge in the British 
Embassy; negotiations start with the royal court; and the king in an apparent heeding to the demands of the people, 
issues a second rescript in which he gives lip service to the people, orders his first decree to be followed, and most 
importantly, replaces the ‘National Consultative Assembly’ with ‘Islamic Consultative Assembly.’ And the 
uneducated, simple-minded Moslems, who have already forgotten that the main issue was about people, either do 
not pay attention that National was replaced by Islamic, or think that the word Islamic guarantees them a place in 
Paradise!   

By the way, the praying the shah had written in his proclamation apparently is not heeded by Allah, as he dies five 
months after signing the proclamation. His son, Mohammad Ali Shah, takes the reign and opposes the constitution, 
and asks the Russians, who were his supporters, to bombard the parliament. Russian troops also lay siege on the 
city of Tabriz and massacre a number of freedom-loving people. The horrifying picture below, which is from Edward 
Brown’s book entitled Letters From Tabriz, translated by Dr. Hasan Javadi, is a sad testament to their atrocities.  

At the same time, an American Christian 
missionary, Howard Baskerville, age 25, 
who was teaching English in Tabriz, 
witnessing the savagery committed by the 
Russians, goes to Sattar Khan, leader of 
freedom-lovers, and asks for permission to 
join his forces. Sattar Khan thanks him and 
encourages him to keep teaching the 
youth. His insistence on fighting alongside 
good people against evil forces, finally 
gains him permission from Sattar Khan. 
And the young teacher gives his life for 
freedom in Iran.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On 31 August 1907, Russia and Britain, the 
two enemies of Iran that were working against each other in Iran, suddenly come into an agreement to divide Iran 
into three zones: Russian sphere of influence covering the entire Iranian land all the way to the south of Esfahan; 
British sphere of influence, initially including the southeast part of Iran, but in later years encompassed the entire 
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southwest, as well, including Bushehr and the Khuzestan province. The zone in between the north and south zones 
was left to the Iranian government, a zone with not much natural resources. 

A brief look at the international political chess game being played by the big powers would be beneficial, as the end 
result impacts the fate of many countries. Britain, apprehensive of Russia’s encroachment towards India, occupies 
Tibet, a vast area in northeastern India, in 1904. In the same year, Britain makes an agreement with France according 
to which the two powers would not interfere with their respective international affairs. In other words, Britain would 
turn a blind eye on the French occupation of Morocco, and France would reciprocate by not paying attention to the 
British occupation of Egypt! Russia is defeated by Japan in 1904-1905 war. In the middle of this war, Britain extends 
and reaffirms the agreement she had signed with Japan two years earlier. Now the Russians are apprehensive! At 
the same time, Britain is fearful on two other issues: Russia has extended its railroad all the way to Afghanistan 
border, which causes concern for Britain’s prize, India. Britain is also concerned about the impact of the Iranian 
Constitutional movement on Indian citizens. It should be remembered that earlier, the British, who were concerned 
for the security of India vis-à-vis Russia, and were unhappy with the incompetence of Fath Ali Shah’s government, 
facilitated the secession of Afghanistan from Iran so that they could install a powerful government there for the 
purposes of erecting a strong barrier between Russia and India. Russians, defeated by the Japanese, have no 
appetite for entering a war against the British. The British have figured out that diplomacy and negotiations are less 
expensive than going to war. At the same time, Germany is growing more powerful by the day and becoming a 
nuisance for the Brits. Britain decides that it would be advantageous to start a friendship with Russia rather than 
Germany, because Russia is stronger than Germany, but is not as politically astute and wise as Germany! 
Consequently, Britain reaches an agreement on several issues with Russia: they divide Iran among themselves; 
Russia agrees for Afghanistan to remain under the British influence; in return, Britain accepts to withdraw from Tibet 
and leave it under the Chinese government; and Russia agrees to turn a blind eye in British affairs in Shanghai!   

Following this political chess, one would find that later on, the British, Russians and the French form an alliance 
against Germany, and a few years later, WWI starts. The Iranian statemen, who didn’t have much knowledge and 
understanding of these chess games, declare neutrality, which sounds honorable, but in the end, works against 
Iran’s interests.  

The Russophile Mohammad Ali Shah, having had the parliament bombarded, doesn’t last more than two and a half 
years, and is removed by the fledgling parliament (with the British support?) and installs his 11-year-old son as the 
new king, and the history shows how intertwined he becomes with the British!   

Pejman Bakhtiyari, the famous poet, describes the situation during the Qajar period: “…ever increasing problems 
where Iran had no money, no power, and no social unity…” 

Here are some photos of Iranians during the Qajar reign. I have borrowed the kabob sellers, the shoeing of a donkey 
and the water seller carrying water in a goatskin container from princess Ashraf Pahlavi’s book, Faces in the Mirror: 
Memoires from Exile; and I am indebted for the rest to the famous photographer Antoin Sevrugui. 
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In order for you to grasp the depth and the severity of the situation in Iran under the reign of Ahmad Shah, the last 
king of the Qajar dynasty, I wish to bring a piece of history that is aggravating, depressive and inspiring at the same 
time and makes one to thank God that throughout the history some human beings have shown what humanity is 
all about. Saadi’s poem, translated by Dr. Aryanpoor, says it all: 

Human beings are members of a whole 
In creation of one essence and soul, 
If one member is afflicted with pain 
Other members uneasy will remain, 
If you have no sympathy for human pain 
The name of human you cannot retain. 

 
James L. Barton, in a book entitled  Story of Near East Relief 1915-1930 An Interpretation, writes that during WWI, 
a committee of ordinary American volunteers who had become aware of the destruction, misery and misfortune of 
the people in the Near East (east of the Mediterranean Sea, such as Egypt, Lebanon, Syria, the defeated Ottoman 
Empire, now named Turkey, Greece, Georgia, Armenia, Azerbaijan) was formed to help displaced, hungry, naked 
and ill men, women and orphaned children regardless of their race, religion, or ethnicity.  The initial goal was to 
raise $100,000.00. These ordinary Americans started contacting people, companies, universities, businesses and 
their congressmen throughout the United States to raise that amount. In the end, instead of $100,000.00, they were 
able to raise close to $116,000,000.00, which in today’s dollars is close to $3,000,000,000.00—three billion dollars—
not Tomans, and brought supplies, medicine, food… to millions of people. Soon, Iran was added to the list of the 
receiving aid countries. Dr. Harry Pratt Judson, President of Chicago University, age 70, volunteered to head the 
commission and go to Iran. It should be noted that thirty of the volunteers who went to help, lost their lives due to 
illness. This is exactly when Ahmad Shah was having fun in Europe!   

A very important issue that I think one should always take into consideration is that due to the religious zealotry 
and superstition that had been continued from the Safavids to the Qajar era, Iranian Zoroastrians, who have lived 
in Iran for over 3,000 years, Iranian Jews, who had lived in Iran for over 2,700 years, Iranian Assyrians and Armenians, 
who had lived in Iran for about 2,000 years, as well as Iranian Bahais, who had brought their new religion, were 
more than others under assault, oppression, and plunder. Therefore, the humanitarian aid provided by American 
Christians who treated everybody the same, must have been appreciated even more profoundly. The volunteers 
knew well that all human being were created by one God. In Tehran alone, they were able to give aid and comfort 
to 30,000 hungry dispossessed people.   

I have borrowed two photos from the book to share with you. One depicts the desperate situation of a family in a 
dilapidated building, and another is an interesting picture of an American aid “ambulance” in Orumieh, where one 
person is holding an American flag on one side, and another holds a white flag for the warring sides to know that 
they are not at war against anybody.   
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The second assembly, or congress, was formed four months after the ouster of Mohammad Ali Shah. There were 
two main factions:  Etedalioon (moderates) and democrats. Ayatollah Behbahani, Ayatollah Tabatabaee and 
Farmanfarma were among the leaders of the so-called moderate faction (Mashrooeh) that supported Sharia law. It 
should be noted that Farmanfarma is the same person, who based on British declassified documents presented in 
previous pages, was receiving 6,000 tomans per month from the British and had requested that the stipend to be 
paid to his heirs in case of his death. The second faction had dreams of European-like progress and wanted to 
educate people and cut off the clergy from government and people’s daily life control. There were ongoing severe 
clashes between the two factions, but the bankruptcy of the country had presented a dire situation that was above 
politics. So, they voted to appeal to the U.S. government for help, and President Taft recommended Morgan Shuster 
as head of a group of American financial experts to re-organize Iran’s financial system. But since Shuster’s good work 
and devotion to duty was against the interests of Russia and Britain, the Russians gave an ultimatum to the so-called 
independent and democratically run government and congress of Iran to fire Shuster. The British, not only supported 
the idea, but also committed a military occupation of the port of Bushehr on the Persian Gulf! Congressmen sent 
telegrams to the entire world pleading for help, but no country and no congress came to their assistance! As a result, 
the regent, along with Samsam-ol-saltaneh Bakhtiyari, the prime minister, succumbed to the Russians’ demand, 
dissolved the parliament and fired Shuster and his team of experts!   

There are a few lessons in this shameful and sad event. First, if a country is moneyless and powerless, she can’t 
accomplish anything.   

Second, when there is no understanding of principles of democratic governance and citizenry participation; people 
have been disenfranchised by a few foreign-connected wealthy groups; schools, universities, justice, equal rights 
for men and women are non-existent, and beautiful sounding words such as parliament, liberty and independence 
ring hollow for the hungry masses.   

Third, the bitter and cold reality is that a country must be self-reliant. In this case, not a single democratic country 
or supporter of liberty and freedom, or even a Moslem country, took a single step to even pay lip service to the so-
called “elected representatives of the people of Iran” and symbols of democracy and theocracy! Nobody was willing 
to antagonize Russia and Britain for the sake of supporting or defending Iran. A country goes to the defense of 
another country only if doing so is in its own economic and or political interest. And even in such a case, people in 
the country that is being helped should not gullibly assume that the two countries will be good friends to the 
eternity! The international political chess game goes on forever, and alliances could shift very easily and swiftly. The 
divergence and convergence of Russian and British policies in relation to Iran in various periods should always be 
kept in mind. 

Now, let’s look at the situation in Iran during the last years of the Qajar dynasty, as well as the relations among 
Britain, Europe and Russia from another angle. You might get the impression that we are getting off the subject, or 
we are repeating some aspects. If you note, you will see that we are attempting to observe, from different angles, 
the situation in Iran before Reza Khan enters the political arena in Iran. This is analogous to looking at Mount 
Damavand through the camera of a drone that flies from top to the bottom, north, east, west, south, and even 
inside the crater.   

Here, I wish to borrow from Dr. Houshang Sabahi’s book, British Policy in Persia 1918-1925, as it is written 
masterfully: 

From the perspective of Whitehall, Persia was a crossroads where Britain’s European and Indian 
interests met. Control of Persia by any European power was bound to jeopardize the security of 
British India. A threat to India could in turn be used as a lever to upset the balance of power in 
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Europe. To forestall this danger, Britain tried various policies. At first London and India hesitantly 
experimented with the policy of bringing Persia into the British sphere of influence either by 
contracting an alliance with her or by turning her into a protectorate. Persia’s crushing defeat in 
the war with Russia put an end to these experiments. The Turkomanchai Treaty of 1828 firmly 
established Russian influence at Tehran.    

For the rest of nineteenth century, the basic thrust of British policy was to prevent Russia from 
taking control of Persia and, at the same time, to avoid a serious dispute with her over Persia. So, 
Persia had to be preserved as a buffer zone. But, as Russian influence continued to grow in the 
north and threatened to expand southwards, Britain’s position began to shift. Persia’s 
independence was becoming a threat, rather than an asset, to the security of India. By the end of 
the century the north seemed to be irreversibly in Russian hands; the south must be secured for 
Britain. An increasing number of politicians and officials began to advocate the partition of Persia. 
The exponents of an agreement with Russia eventually prevailed. The Anglo-Russian Convention 
of 1907 divided Persia into sphere of influence. 

…Persia remained a bone of contention between the two powers until the beginning of the First 
World War…At the end of the First World War, with her rivals eliminated, it suddenly appeared 
that Britain could solve the Persian question once and for all by extending her control over the 
country. At the same time, the occupation of Mesopotamia and the Navy’s growing dependence 
on Persian oil had increased Britain’s stakes in Persia. It was against this background that [Lord 
George Nathaniel] Curzon set out his Persian policy.    

Curzon, a statesman, a former member of House of Lords who had served as Viceroy of India for years, in the middle 
of WWI became the leader of the House of Lords after which he became a member of the government and finally 
became Foreign Secretary, Minister of Foreign Affairs. This genius, very well disciplined and selfish man writes in his 
book, Persia and the Persian Question, that he saw Iran as a “pawn”. “Turkestan, Afghanistan Transcaspia, Persia…to 
me, I confess, they are the pieces on a chessboard upon which is being played out a game for the dominion of the 
world.”   

I am not digressing here. Curzon’s behavior and his relation with the British government, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 
the British ambassador in Iran and even the British army (when he was the Viceroy of India and had to resign and 
return to England because of his differences with the British Ministry of War) can allude to points at the beginning 
and the rise of Reza Khan. 

Per Curzon’s suggestion, an interdepartmental committee was formed in 1917 and was named The Persia 
Committee. Although the Foreign Secretary, James Balfour, was the head of the committee, Curzon dominated the 
proceedings. Establishment of the Eastern Committee of the War Cabinet in March 1918 at the request of the Chief 
of the Imperial General Staff strengthened Curzon’s position. The purpose was coordination between the British 
policy and military strategy on the Eastern Front that encompassed Persia and the Caucasus after the collapse of 
Tsarist regime in Russia. The hope was the Committee would facilitate military operations by smoothing over time-
consuming bureaucratic bickering and disagreements among various government entities. The Prime Minister 
appointed Curzon as the Chairman of the Committee. The Foreign Secretary and his deputy, who had been included 
in the committee considered this as a direct blow to the Foreign Office’s claim to control foreign affairs. The India 
Office and the War Office also resented the fact that Curzon would step on their tails. The turf war continued for 
some time. A few people, including the deputy Foreign Secretary, tried to undermine Curzon, to no avail. It got to 
the point that Curzon threatened to resign. Having overcome his rivals, Curzon and his followers proposed that if 
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Britain wants to stay in Iran, she should take control of Iran’s finances and armed forces! This was the stepping-
stone of the ominous 1919 Agreement. 

The above is indicative of bureaucratic inefficiency, bickering, disagreement, rivalry, and even backstabbing within 
the United Kingdom. All of this can be characterized as byproduct of human nature that can be found in any 
government. However, a review of the past, and even occasionally in present, Iranian publications show a false 
assumption that everything in the UK government and parliament works in smooth coordination and as precisely as 
a good Swiss watch! This delusive, fallacious and misleading high regard for everything British had such a vast 
negative impact that even when some act of mere stupidity, incapacity, ignorance, or imprudence was committed 
by the British, most people would think it was intentional and preplanned! My Uncle Napoleon, a great fiction, which 
became one of Iran’s most popular TV series, masterfully depicts this point. The canniness of the British was that 
they had learned to show themselves as always calm and cool and hide their own disputes. 

Since the 1919 Agreement would practically give British control over Iran, Curzon and his people tried to get it done 
in secret. Three people helped arrange this: Vosoughodoleh, Ahmad Shah’s Prime Minister, Prince Firouz, the 
Minister of Foreign Affairs and Prince Saremodoleh, the Minister of Finance. These people signed the agreement on 
behalf of Iran after receiving a total of 400,000 tomans, or 131,000 sterling pounds, which in today’s exchange rate, 
equates to something like 727,225,994 tomans!  Half of the amount went to the Prime Minister and the other half 
went to the two Qajar princes. The people of Iran and Ahmad Shah were shafted! When Ahmad Shah was asked 
during his trip to England to sign the agreement, he responded: whoever got the money should sign it! Mohammad 
Javad Sheikh-ol-Islami in his book, Simay-e Ahmad Shah-e Ghajar (Ahmad Shah Ghajar, A Political Portrait), writes 
that Ahmad Shah demanded two things to sign the agreement: First, he wanted his monthly payment of 15,000 
tomans by the British government that he was receiving for the appointment of Vosoughodoleh to become 
permanent. Secondly, he wanted the British government to guarantee his kingship and that of his heirs!   

In order to conceal the bribe to the three politicians, the British deposited the amount into the Iranian government’s 
bank account as the first part of the British loan of £2,000,000! Later on, due to the opposition by Iranians, which 
was practically encouraged and supported by the Russians, pressing that it must be ratified by the Iranian 
parliament, the agreement was never implemented. The British were outfoxed by Iranians and never got their bribe 
money back. However, no tears are needed for that, because they gained a lot more through other means, including 
the theft of the proceeds of the sale of Iranian oil. My fury and frustration were alleviated a bit only by reading in 
Tarikh-e Rejaal-e Iran (Biography of Statesmen of Iran) that not long after becoming the king of Iran, Reza Shah 
confiscated the bribe money from the three politicians in 1927.    

Perhaps it would be beneficial to find out about the background of the three persons who signed the ominous and 
infelicitous 1919 Agreement:   

Vosoughodoleh is the same person who received his appointment as the Prime Minister in return for 15,000 toman 
per month bribe from Britain to Ahmad Shah. He happens to be the brother of Ghavam-ol-saltaneh /Kawam, whom 
per revealed UK National Archives document, had asked for and was receiving a monthly stipend from the British 
government conditioned on his cooperation. The two brothers became Prime Minister many times. Later, we will 
see how Vosoughodoleh grabbed about 35,000,000 square meters (8,648.6 acres) in eastern Tehran without paying 
a penny when his brother, Ghavam, became Prime Minister after Reza Shah’s exile.   

The second signatory of the Agreement was Prince Nosratodoleh Firouz, the eldest son of Abdolhossain 
Farmanfarma, the same Farmanfarma who, based on the same document, was receiving a stipend from the British 
government. The stipend was going to go to his children, should the he get killed. Firouz was the Minister of Justice 
in Vosoughodoleh’s cabinet. Two days before the signing of the Agreement, he was appointed as the Foreign 
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Minister! Per Simay-e Ahmad Shah-e Ghajar, there were reasons for his change of position: first, he had participated 
in the entire negotiations of the Agreement, and now, per previous arrangement, was ready to sign it. Second, as 
Foreign Minister, he was going to be a member of Ahmad Shah’s entourage in the upcoming trip of the king to 
Europe, and whenever necessary, replace the Iranian ambassadors who opposed the Agreement. Additionally, he 
was supposed to prevent patriotic Iranian expatriates and Iran-loving foreigners from approaching the king and 
warning him about the faults and flaws of the Agreement.     

The third person was Mirza Masoud Saremodoleh, Naseroddin Shah’s grandson, a British educated prince with close 
ties to them, who became the Minister of Finance per British government recommendation.   

The Agreement stirred a scandal and political embarrassment in Europe, especially when, per Bahar’s A Short History 
of Political Parties in Iran, prior to a royal dinner gala in his honor, Ahmad Shah was shown a copy of the British 
King’s speech mentioning the Agreement which Ahmad Shah was expected to confirm in his own speech. He 
declined and declared: “Those who have received money should confirm it, I shall never confirm it!” 

To sum up, Iran’s situation was so dire that per Hossain Makki’s Tarikh-e Bist saaleh-e Iran (twenty-year history of 
Iran), when Ahmad Shah appointed Sepahdar-e Azam as the new Prime Minister, Sepahdar made a declaration 
stating: 

At a time when warp and woof of the affairs of the country are totally entangled and broken due 
to economic crises and political developments, business affairs and public subsistence have been 
afflicted by severe fluctuation and pulsation, administrative system is totally out of order, law and 
order is shaken and a body of lawlessness and mental chaos with the ugliest consequences is 
being exhibited …and the bad fortune at a time that can be considered the darkest political and 
societal era with the most critical and irrecoverable moment of this wretched and destitute 
country…   

At that time, prime ministers and their cabinets would survive about 90 days! This poor man’s cabinet couldn’t 
survive more than 78 days, and the next time he was appointed, he lasted only 26 days! This is indicative of how 
unstable and dire the situation was in Iran before Reza Khan came into the picture. 
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The Coup d’état 

Encyclopedia Britannica defines this French term as: “Coup d’état, also called Coup, the sudden, violent overthrow 
of an existing government by a small  group.” It seems the Iranians of that era were so desperate that would call any 
change or development for rescuing the country coup d’état! Hossain Makki writes that the Prime Minister 
encouraged Ahmad Shah to make a coup d’état together! How could the heads of a regime and government arrange 
a coup d’état against themselves? And if they take any action together, it cannot be called a coup d’état. It is 
absolutely disappointing to see that all Iranian historians, scholars, statemen as well as the public even today call 
the event that took place in 1920 a Coup d’état. This is when Reza Khan and his Cossack forces went from Ghazvin 
to Tehran and Reza Khan, along with Seyyed Ziaoddin Tabatabie, had an audience with Ahmad Shah, during which 
they declared their loyalty to him and their service to the country! This act cannot be characterized as a Coup d’état! 
Perhaps a “movement” would be a more accurate term for it. 

Makki writes: 

The idea of a coup d’état was on all reformists’ minds. They were all looking into the horizon 
hoping for a hand come out of the unseen and eradicate the rotten roots of weak and straw 
governments with one strike; and if it does not perform miracles, at least bring security and put 
an end to the banditry and pillage and rape of the people… Modarres (the clergy) was plotting a 
coup d’état, Sardar Asad Bakhtiyari and other chieftains…gathered at Chehel Sotoon building in 
Esfahan, and the warlord was gathering armed men; Nosratodoleh intended to pass the snow-
covered  western  mountaintops as fast  as a  strong  wind  and  reach  Tehran; Seyyed Zia was 
making compromises with the centers of power, and even Starosselsky, the Russian commander 
of the Persian Cossack brigade, had something in mind! Everybody was entering the race towards 
the coup d’état, and everyone tried to get there first!     

One of the candidates for the 1920 coup d’état was [Prince] Nosratodoleh [Firouz, the eldest son 
of Farmanfarma, and one of the three signatories of the 1919 Agreement] who had been 
considered by London for playing such a role. He was hurriedly returning to Iran to perform coup 
d’état in Tehran… a few hours after his return to Tehran, the British Ambassador, Mr. Norman, 
meets him and talks with him about two and a half hours. The person who reports this, who had 
been present at Nosratodoleh’s house and is one his close friends and confidents, says: “The 
British ambassador, while discussing the coup d’état and its terms that need to be carried out by 
the leader of the revolution, mentions the names of a number of the respectable people that 
must be arrested and detained.” Nosratodoleh objects and says: “In London, Lord Curzon and I 
agreed on the generalities of the coup d’état plan, but I have to be completely free in determining 
the details and these kinds of operations!” 

It is interesting to note that Bahar, whose political view was different from that of Makki’s, writes in his 
aforementioned book: “…everybody believed that one could reach the goal through coup d’état and bringing 
together the divided forces!” Also: “incidentally, at the same time period, Mr. Smart, one of the members of the 
[British] embassy, came to the author’s residence and had a discussion with me about establishing a strong 
government that would be able to quell various dissenting voices, a stable and semi-dictator government. And I was 
generally in agreement with him on the necessity of the formation of such a government… two days before the 
arrival of Reza Khan and Seyyed Ziaoddin Tabatabaee in Tehran, I told Zia in a very clear and emphatic way that if 
you have a plan related to the situation, I will be in agreement with you.”   

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Vsevolod_Starosselsky
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In order to have a better perspective of the factors pertaining to the movement, change, or the so-called through 
coup d’état, one could take into consideration the following: 

Per UK National Archives declassified documents, British newspapers and the Diaries of General Ironside, the 
general who was tasked to execute safe withdrawal of the British forces from Iran, the British economy was in 
shambles. Money was so scarce that officers of the British armed forces who were not in war fronts, or on war 
missions, received only half of their salaries! And the British Parliament was exerting pressure on the government 
to bring back the forces from the countries that it deemed useless.   

Per BBC News website, in February 1919, Habibullah Khan, the Afghan king for 18 years, is assassinated. The same 
Afghanistan that by the British plotting and encouragement had started seceding from Iran during Fath Ali Shah’s 
reign, and eventually, in 1857, after British military occupation of southern Iran, its independence was recognized 
by Naseroddin Shah per Paris treaty. Interestingly, Habibullah Khan’s own son, Amanullah Khan, as well as his 
brother, Nasrullah Khan, both of whom were suspected of the assassination, claimed to be the new king. Amanullah 
out staged his uncle, and in an apparent attempt to deflect the assassination rumors, and in order to show “a great 
gesture against the British,” attacked India.  

The altercation continued for about a month, and when the British air force bombarded Afghanistan, he asked for 
a ceasefire. A peace treaty was signed per which the Afghan king committed not to intervene in the tribal areas’ 
affairs. Britain, on the other hand, recognized Afghanistan’s independence and stopped paying a monthly stipend 
to the king! 

This event coincides with the gradual rise of Reza Khan in Iran. Six years later, Reza Khan puts an end to the Qajar 
dynasty by being declared as king by the parliament.   

A few things can be observed here: Britain has come out of the WWI victorious, but tired. Her overseas military 
expenditure and financial burden is overwhelming and her economy has weakened. At the same time, the formation 
of an alliance with Russia against Germany, and Russia’s regime change has alleviated, albeit temporarily, Britain’s 
concerns regarding Russia’s encroachment towards India via Iran and Afghanistan. As a result, as Amanullah Khan 
and Reza Khan appear as two strong characters in the two neighboring countries, Britain adopts a new policy that 
is concurrent with ideals—a strong unified country, economic development and eradication of corruption—of these 
two strong men for their respective countries. It is interesting to note that my Afghan friends all regard Amanullah 
Khan on the scale as Reza Shah and as the person who tried to bring Afghanistan to the modern world.   

Another revealing angle relates to the deployment of General Edmund Ironside in October 1921 to Iran for the 
specific purpose of safely withdrawing British forces. A few interesting points can be found in a book that was 
published based on his diaries about fifty years later by his son. The first point that stands out is the condition of the 
British troops in north Iran after their disastrous defeat dealt to them by the Russians in northern Iran. Ironside says: 
“British prestige had suffered a heavy blow.”  

Ironside describes the conditions the British military was in Iran at that time:     

I found the troops in a pitiable condition. They had been dumped down at any point where an old 
shed or a derelict caravanserai offered itself, often in malarious hollows. The men were still in 
their summer kit, for the most part ragged shorts and torn shirts. Many had no coats of any sort, 
though the nights were already growing cold. Quite a number were suffering from malaria and 
the general state of the sanitation of the posts was lamentable… when I looked at them I thought 
they were like a batch of newly released prisoners of war from a German camp. I had to send 
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home the CO, as soon as I saw him on my return to Kazvin, as being quite useless for further 
military service.   

One can only imagine how dire the situation must have been in Iran, where many people, including Ahmad Shah 
himself, still wanted the British stay in Iran as a security measure against the Russians! Before leaving Iran in 
February 1922, Ironside, along with the British ambassador, gets an audience with Ahmad Shah. 

… a very ordinary chair. The young shah, wearing a plain black frock coat with no decorations of 
any sort. He sat hunched up in the chair with his head sunk deep into his shoulders… The Minister 
(ambassador) then told the Shah that the British Government was growing tired of the delays in 
the ratification of the treaty which he had signed. He said plainly that it was impossible for them 
to go on advancing money unless the treaty was ratified. The Shah was very halting in his 
replies…He wanted it ratified, knowing that it was the best thing which could be done for his 
country!!!  

…He then proceeded to paint for us a lurid picture of what would happen if we withdrew our 
forces from Persia. His country would at once be overrun by the troops of the Soviet Russia… He 
prayed the Minister (ambassador) not to withdraw the British troops, if not for the sake of Persia 
then for the sake of the British Empire and India… He presented a pathetic picture of defeat. 

 

Here, I ask for your indulgence as I focus on an issue that I think has been misused for decades by those who wish 
to put a negative light on Reza Shah. Lord Ironside, the General’s son, writes in the introduction to his father’s diary 
he published in 1972: “In his diary he says, ‘I fancy that everybody thinks that I engineered the coup d’état. I suppose, 
I did strictly speaking.’” 

Uncle Napoleons have taken this as proof positive that Reza Shah was a pawn who was brought to power by the 
British. Now that for the first time in history, photos of the declassified British documents are placed in front of you 
in this book, I hope you go through them and reach your own conclusion. Additionally, I reviewed the General’s 
diary several times, and I could not find that quotation. Neither have I found it in the declassified documents, in any 
newspaper or publication in the UK, Europe, U.S. And not a single person has ever claimed in the last one hundred 
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years to have heard it uttered by General Ironside! It is also interesting to note that a few lines prior to making that 
claim about his father “fancying,” Lord Ironside writes:  

The story of his choosing Reza Khan to command them (Persian Cossacks) is known to many and 
although he could not know at the time that this man would one day become Shah of Persia...      

Thus, it is clear that the British General could not and did not know at the time that Reza Khan would one day 
become the Shah of Iran, and per his diaries, he even obtained a promise from Reza Khan not to be disloyal to the 
Qajar Shah, a promise to which he was faithful for some time. We will also see documents sent to London by the 
British ambassador, the military attaché and others which said Reza Khan had colluded with Russian Bolsheviks, and 
that he was a patriot who only thought about his country. So, perhaps it would be appropriate, for the sake of being 
recorded in history, to take a new look at him in an unbiased manner and admit that Reza Shah, with all his good 
and bad characteristics, was a self-made, independent-minded, and obstinate Iranian who with perseverance, 
within the boundaries and limitations of his time and his contemporaries, attempted and sacrificed himself for the 
salvation and revival of Iran.    

Here, I wish to draw your attention to two salient points. First, my research, studying books and going through 
documents, all indicate that at the time of Reza Khan, who later became Reza Shah, people did not talk about or 
asked for democracy. On the contrary, they were longing for a competent central power, for which they used the 
word “dictatorship,” that would be able to first provide safety and security throughout the country, and then fix the 
miserable economic conditions. It is noteworthy that during the last years of the Qajar dynasty, Iranian governments 
under various Prime Ministers were dependent on receiving a monthly stipend/assistance from Britain to cover 
employees’ salaries and other expenses! Approaching the end of his life, Dariyoush Homayoun writes: 

Intellectuals of that era, being closer to the Constitutional [Movement] and the facts of that era, 
considered cultural renaissance, economic revival, creating infrastructure such as university, 
hospitals, railroad, women’s education and modern justice system as the most important parts of 
the constitutional ideals. They simply and clearly believed if a huge section of the citizenry is 
hungry, ill, illiterate, deprived of clean potable water, it would not only not seek political and 
media freedom, but also would not benefit from them.   

Secondly, it would obviously be unfair for those who are today residing in southern France, southern California and 
Stanford University, to totally disregard the fact that people at that time were only longing for sustenance and 
security and pompously declare that Reza Shah’s behavior was not democratic! It is utterly unfortunate that even 
today, after about a century later, we do not see a sliver of democracy and democratic behavior in the entire Middle 
East and its rulers.  

The following 6-page declassified document is a telegram sent to London in 1922 by Sir Percy Loraine, the British 
ambassador in Iran, in which he provides a perspective of Reza Khan and his characteristics.        
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Telegram by Sir Percy Loraine providing a perspective of Reza Khan 
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The next document is a page that is placed over Loraine’s telegram. The top block contains the gist of the telegram. 

The bottom block, which seems to be Curzon’s hand-written comment, might be interesting to many: 

“Very interesting. I wonder whether Reza is of the stuff of which Diaz, Mohammad Ali & Nadir 
Shah were made? That he is half Caucasian is in his favour.” 

By Diaz he could mean a Mexican strong general and president who brought great progress and modernization to 
his country. Mohammad Ali could be Mohammad Ali Pasha, viceroy of Egypt, who put an end to Egypt’s traditional 
society and crashed all rebels. 
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Memorandum of Conversation between Sir Percy Loraine and 
Minister of War (Reza Khan) 

The British Ambassador had a conversation with Minister of War, Reza Khan, the summary of which was prepared 
by W. A. Smart and enclosed with the previous telegram sent to London.  
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The following handwritten notes on Reza Khan’s business card and the Ministry of War’s letterhead debunks his 
opponents’ claim that he was illiterate. 
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The document below, a telegram from the British Ambassador to London on 4/17/1922, has two salient points: 

1. The fact that Reza Khan states to the Ambassador that “if the British views prevail in Turkish negotiations 
and Genoa conference our [British] position in Persia will be enormously strengthened…” shows that Sardar 
Sepah was fully aware of and understood international events and their impacts on Iran.  

2. The fact that the Ambassador tells Reza Khan “that Persia’s attempt to stand by herself was a failure…” 
shows that Reza Khan has been trying to make Iran stand on her own feet and independent of foreign 
countries.      
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Also of interest is the Ambassador’s draft of the private and confidential letter written to the British Consul in 
Kermanshah in page 2, of which he writes:  
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“One day he may, and very likely will, want our direct assistance, but he is an independent 
character, and we had better await the occasion.” 
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Here is a secret Intelligence Report by the British Military Attaché, which was sent by the Ambassador to London. 

…Reza Khan… is opposed to executive power being given to British officer instructors… 

The Shah has been intriguing with Reza Khan for the removal of Sayed Zia… 

The Russian legation…secretly encourages Reza Khan and his adherents. 
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Intelligence Summaries sent to London … 

Another report by the Military Attaché indicates: 

…Reza Khan sent a secret cypher message to the Persian staff officers…to keep him minutely 
informed of all troops movements and threatened sever punishment… 

…he is afraid of British officers gaining more control of the men than he has…and it remains to be 
seen what further pressure Reza Khan can bring to bear in order to ensure their removal. 
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Yet another report reads: The Persian Government… regarding the retention of British officers…it no longer requires 
these officers…and requests their withdrawal…The real reason for their removal is undoubtedly the pressure 
brought to bear by the Russian Government, added to the marked opposition …by the War Minister, who is openly 
anti-British, and working in close touch with Rotstein. 
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The Military Attaché writes in another report that: “Reza Khan had a secret interview with Rothstein, which lasted 
two hours. These interviews take place at frequent intervals. 
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Reza Khan 

The following document, containing an admission of the British ambassador that Reza Khan works against British 
interests certainly appears to debunk Reza Khan’s enemies’ theory that he was brought to power by the British, 
especially when one remembers that Seyed Zia publicly took pride for being an Anglophile.   

Minister of War…and Shah have, after long struggle, succeeded in forcing Prime Minister out of 
office…All my efforts to dissuade conspirators from this disastrous intrigue failed, owing to the 
fact that, since withdrawal of our troops, Minister of War no longer fears us. 

 The next document is part of Churchill’s handwritten document and Oliphant’s note on the same 
document. 

The Following paragraph was contained in Mr. Norman’s dispatch No. 29 of March 3, reporting 
the composition of Seyed Zia’s Cabinet:  

Besides Major Masud Khan, the movement which produced the recent change of Government had 
two military leaders. Of these one, Reza Khan Mirpanj (General), retains the chief command of the 
Persian forces. He is an honest and capable officer without political aspirations.  

Reza Khan received the title of Serdar Sipah and became Minister of War in March. He has 
evidently fallen a victim to Mr. Rothstein’s intrigues. I do not believe that the Shah trusts Reza 
Khan any more than he did Seyed Zia and we will not have lone to wait before Reza Khan is 
banished.  

The position is certainly very unsatisfactory but there appears to be nothing better to do than to 
remain entirely aloof as proposed by Mr. Norman. Mr. Norman was quit right to stop future 
supplies of munitions and officers.  
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Reza Khan has fallen to Rothestein’s (Russian Amb.) intrigues 
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At the bottom of another telegram, in which is reported that Reza Khan has asked Rothstein for money to pay his 
troops, Churchill writes: The reported action of Reza Khan, the Cossack officer who is new Minister of War, shows 
that he is thoroughly pro-Russian. 

 
 



Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot?         69 

Reza Khan… is thoroughly pro-Russian 

 

 

 

In another document, the British Ambassador sends a Financial Adviser’s opinion for Curzon’s consideration: 

Greatest difficulty is that Minister of War, who commands Cossacks, dominates the Cabinet, 
obtains most of the funds in the Treasury, and if the Medjlis does not succeed in controlling his 
demands, the only remedy is to cut all supplies until he is disposed of.   
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The only remedy is to cut off all supplies until he is disposed of 

 

It is interesting for any observer to note that per released documents, Reza Khan, a person who was considered by 
the British politicians and some Iranians as an inexperienced common peasant, played the British and the Russians 
against each other. It is for this reason that Dr. Cyrus Ghani, in his book, Iran and the Rise of Reza Shah, writes that 
Reza Khan: “adapted and learned so quickly that he could have given Machiavelli lessons in statecraft.”     
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His policy has been to have neither foreign advisors nor troops 
Below is a secret telegram to London which proves the above. It is reported that Reza Khan “replied Rothstein that 
he and the Persian force would oppose to the best of their ability any return of Russian troops, appealing to the 
British for assistance and that he would put himself entirely in British hands. He told me that from the 
commencement his policy has been to have neither foreign advisers or foreign troops in the country…” 
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A complete collapse…of British prestige and influence 

It is very interesting, and frankly heartwarming, that about a year later, the British Foreign Secretary in a letter to 
the Ambassador in Iran laments about “A complete collapse for the moment of British prestige and influence in 
that country”!   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     I wish to once again ask for your indulgence to review a couple of documents that could 
prove to be revealing as well as educational. The first one is a report by Sir Percy Loraine, 
the British Ambassador to the Foreign Secretary in London on official letterhead with 
embossed Royal Coat of Arms featuring a shield with a crown on top and lion and a 
unicorn on the sides. 
It is about people taking refuge “bast”  ن �ست  �شسنت in the Russian Embassy in Tehran. It is 

impossible to determine whether the story about Mr. Farrokhi is true or not, but there is no doubt about people 
taking refuge in both British and Russian embassies. I have also read a lot about the abusive behavior of some 
newspapers making fabricated and unfounded allegations against some influential personalities; however, the 
worst and most shameful part reflected in this report is about agitators attacking innocent Iranian Jews and Bahais. 
I am embarrassed to state that I have personally witnessed such despicable acts committed by some people in Iran 
at the outset of the Islamic Revolution for which I am still, after 40 years, disturbed, and as a person believing in 
Human Rights, apologize profusely to the victims of such savage attacks and violations. 
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The “bast” in the Russian Legation 
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Percy Loraine 
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The next document apparently is a telegram from the Russian Ambassador in Tehran to his Consul in Bushehr, which 
was somehow intercepted by the British forces in Iraq and sent as a “Most Secret” message to the War Office in 
London. It is self-explanatory.   
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Intercepted Russian telegram 
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The next document, a summary of telegrams sent by Loraine, page two of which is quite revealing: 

1. Loraine writes about a plot by Ghavam/Kawam to have Reza Khan assassinated. Four people hired for the 
job have been arrested and have confessed. Ghavam has left for Europe! 

2. Mr. Mallet’s handwriting at the bottom of the document in London reads: Kawam has got off lightly! 
 
Those against Reza Khan have perpetuated this myth that the plot was a fake one that was arranged by Reza Khan 
himself. This document debunks all these claims. Also, considering the fact that per Eastern Committee’s decision 
to pay Kawam “provided that the Kawam remains friendly to us” and in the event of his forced exile, he would be 
compensated, one can’t help but to wonder if: A- The plotter had a wink of approval by London, and B- How much 
he received while in Europe? 
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Qavam’s plot to kill Minister of War 
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Here is what Mallet’s handwriting reads:  

1. Kawam es Saltaneh has got off lightly. Copy to India Office. 
2. Serdar Sepah can hardly do worse than his predecessors, and may do a good deal better. The Valiahd will 

probably take the Shah’s place, at any rate for a time. He is a poor specimen, but less cowardly than his 
brother [Ahmad Shah].  
Copy to India Office. Mallet 25 OCT 1923 

 
Another eye-opening revelation is in the next telegram, in which Loraine, the British Ambassador, writes: [Ahmad] 
Shah will certainly leave despite vigorous protest of Minister of War! This means it was intended to keep the Shah 
in power. This contradicts Reza Shah’s opponents who keep repeating that he came to power by the British. It is 
truly an interesting read. 
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Shah will certainly leave despite vigorous protest of Minister of War 

 

The next document which has been redacted for unknown reason to me, is about “Political Situation” in Iran. The 
most interesting part seems to be the handwriting of Mr. Mallet on 20 Oct. 1923, which reads: 
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2. & 3. The Shah is determined on flight (escape, not boarding an aircraft), and for Sir Percy Loraine 
to do more than he has already done to dissuade him would be merely inviting a rebuff. 

It does not look as if Serdar Sepah were aiming at an immediate overthrow of the Kajar dynasty.   
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It does not look as if Sardar Sepah were aiming at an immediate 
overthrow of the Kajar dynasty 

 

 

Three months later, the Ambassador sends a “Very Confidential” telegram to London writing: 

I hear that Russians are encouraging the idea of Persian republic which they consider likely to 
facilitate their more important aim in India and would acquiesce in presidency of present Prime 
Minister (Reza Khan) but would get rid of him as soon as they could afterwards. Prime Minister 
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has certainly been helping so-called socialist candidates in elections and calculating to extort an 
outwardly legal abrogation of the monarchy and the constitution from a submissive Majlis.    

 

Five days later, Churchill responds: The present Shah, who is now in Paris, has proved a failure and his disappearance 
from the scene would be no loss. 
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The present Shah, who is now in Paris, has proved a failure and his 
disappearance from the scene would be no loss 
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The next is a report from a British intelligence officer to his commander. I beg your indulgence for the poor quality 
of the document. As you note, it is typed on a very thin and set paper. The second page shows it is bound in a book 
by the UK Archives with other documents for preservation purposes. The officer, who had previously served in Iran, 
writes about his impressions of the change in Iran upon his return to the country: 

For some time past Persia has had the novel experience of being governed by a man [Reza Khan] 
of patriotic ideals and some continuity of purpose… 

7.  There has, I regret to say, been a falling off in the quantity and quality of the flow of intelligence, 
particularly in the more important respects. I hope that this will be only temporary.  

The last part perhaps means that Iranian informants are now afraid of spying on Iran due to the fear of facing Reza 
Khan’s wrath. 
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In order to place yourself in Reza Khan’s shoes, or any other Iranian who at that time aspired to save Iran by enabling 
her to stand on her feet, you would probably need to read the next report. The British Ambassador describes the 
situation by giving his own, albeit biased and probably in defense of his failures, perspective. It is a dark picture. 
Even if one assumes only a quarter of it to be true, it causes profound heartfelt pain.    
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British Ambassador’s view of the political situation in Iran 
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Six months later, Loraine complains how Iran, under the premiership of Reza Khan, is going against the interests of 
Britain and giving development contracts to various countries such as the U.S., France, Sweden, Germany and Russia, 
and evicts “British doctors from the Persian Government Hospital.” 
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Ambassador: …shaking off the British and Russian economic 
domination of Iran 
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The significance of the next document is multifold. First, the Ambassador calls Nosratodoleh and Mossadegh 
“routine…hereditary politicians.” Second, he reports that “the town of Khorramabad has been successfully relived,” 
thereby reporting to the British Government that Reza Khan’s forces are closing in on Sheikh Khazal, who is 
supported by the Brits. Third, and perhaps most importantly, might give more credence to the idea that Reza Shah 
was not installed by the British. Lastly, the hand-written comment of Mr. Oliphant at the bottom of the telegram 
reveals how wrong the British policy-makers were in their assessment of Reza Khan. He writes: 

If Reza Khan is forced to accept people like Nosret-ed-Dowleh in his cabinet, it will naturally be 
very significant and would probably be the beginning of the end. Nosret-ed-Dowleh is much too 
clever for Reza Khan. 

History proved that in fact it was Reza Khan who was too clever for Nosratodoleh (the British-educated and 
Anglophile Qajar prince), as he not only remained in power as the Prime Minister, but also became the Shah of Iran 
within a year of Mr. Oliphant’s comment.  

A secret “Intelligence Summary” dated August 2, 1924 is also of importance, as under number 16 in page 2 “It is 
reported from several sources, and is commonly believed, that the relations between the Prime Minister and the 
Soviet Minister are very close at present…”  

No. 26 in page 3 reads: “Contracts for two years are now being prepared between the Persian Government and the 
Junker Company for the services of two aviators, two mechanics and a rigger, all of whom are to be Germans. 
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Intelligence summary: …reported from sources that the relations 
between the Prime Minister and the Soviet Minister are very close 
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Intelligence summary: There is much conclusive evidence to show 
that the Russians are strongly supporting the Prime Minister 
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In yet another secret “Intelligence Summary” dated October 29, 1924, under number 23 in page 2, it is reported: 

There is much conclusive evidence to show that the Russians are strongly supporting the Prime 
Minister at present, and are propaganding energetically, if quietly, in his favour. 
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Sardar Sepah’s Military Campaign in Khuzestan and Arrest of Sheikh 
Khazal 

This event was of critical importance for Iran as it related to the future of the province of Khuzestan, oil as the 
biggest source of revenue for Iran as well as the income from the Khorramshahr Customs for the country. Here, I 
have to apologize for using two names in the documents. The British and Arabs used to call the port city of 
Khorramshahr as Mohammareh and the province of Khuzestan as Arabistan. Every time I see these names, I cringe!  

One can find a plethora of contradicting stories, but we are not concerned about his life story in this book. The most 
important issue is to find the truth, by going through the declassified documents, about Khorramshahr and 
Khuzestan and their return to the motherland. It is written that Sheikh Khazal’s ancestors had migrated from what 
today is called Saudi Arabia to Basra in today’s Iraq, and then to Iran. Apparently, they had rented the 
Khorramshahr’s Customs from the Qajars in 1900 for a period of 60 years. It is also believed that Khazal assassinated 
his own brother, Mazal, to replace him as the head of the tribe. It is further known that Mozaffareddin Shah had 
appointed Khazal as the governor of Mohammareh/Khorramshahr and vicinity. However, documents prove that 
Khazal had become a puppet and servant of the British Government. These words should not be taken as derogatory 
to him, or his descendants. They reveal cold facts in numerous documents, a part of one of which can be seen here. 
The entire page containing this part will be presented further ahead in the book. Per documents, when the British 
find out about Reza Khan’s determination on creating a completely centralized country and realize the imminent 
success of his military campaign, they decide to take the side of the winning side and pressure Sheikh Khazal to heed 
to Reza Khan’s central government authority—he says he “could not serve two masters.” This is revealed in page 6 
of a report from Sir Percy Loraine sent to Austen Chamberlain, the British Foreign Secretary, on December 22, 1924 
and received in London on February 4, 1925.     

 

Reza Khan’s actions indicate that he wished for a united Iran with a strong central government. As stated before, 
this is exactly what all Iranian patriots longed for. When the Government’s Financial Advisor, Dr. Arthur Millspaugh, 
on loan by the U.S. President to the Persian Government, writes a letter to Sheikh Khazal demanding payment of 
the tax arrears, he gets angry, states he doesn’t owe anything, and does not recognize Millspaugh and Reza Khan’s 
authority. Then, he tries to form a coalition with people such as Modarres in Tehran and Lur and Bakhtiari tribal 
leaders to topple Reza Khan’s government. See the document below sent by Esmond Ovey. 

 
 
 

Sheikh Khazal 
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British Consul: Sheikh can mobilize 25,000 Arabs and several 
thousand Bakhtiaris 

 

 
 
Eight days later, the British Consul in Ahvaz, Mr. Peel, sends a two-page telegram to the British embassy in Tehran 
that is quit revealing on the relationship between the British Government and the Sheikh! 
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Yet two days after that, the Consul sends another telegram, boasting that the “Sheikh can mobilize 25,000 Arabs 
and several thousand Bakhtiaris. He is confident of the result.” 
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The story of Reza Khan’s military campaign in Khuzestan in a pincer-attack in which he orders his army rush from 
Lorestan while he moves his other forces from Esfahan to Shiraz to Bushehr and finally to Khorramshahr, deceiving 
and startling the British and the Sheikh, is an interesting one that could fill volumes.   

There is yet another revealing document. In a “Very Urgent” telegram from the Foreign Office to Mr. Ovey (Tehran) 
sent on 26 September 1924, the British Government advises his emissary: “…you have already been authorized in 
my telegram No. 132 to negotiate with Reza Khan on the Sheikh’s behalf.” How strange that a British envoy is 
authorized by the British Government to negotiate with the Prime Minister of Iran on behalf of an Iranian citizen! 
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A telegram from the British Mission in Moscow is interesting, as it reports that the Russian government newspaper, 
Izvestiya, has published a telegram speaking of  

“Reconciliation between Reza Khan and Sheikh Khazal has not taken place in spite of the fact that 
the British took it upon themselves to act as intermediaries… the movement of Sheikh Khazal, 
who is entirely under British influence, is an instance of the duplicity of British policy and indicates 
an endeavor to destroy by military means the national progressive forces of Persia.” 
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In the second page of the telegram it is written: “It is reported that the Sheikh is continually receiving across the 
Southern frontiers new consignments of arms from the British.” 
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A chain of interesting documents regarding the Khazal issue: 
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Urgent telegram: I am without news of the Prime Minister’s 
Movements 
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Since the above telegram was sent from the “high Commission for Irak/Iraq,” it would not be inappropriate to 
digress a bit to mention that today’s country of Iraq used to be part of the Ottoman Empire. The British struck a deal 
with Imperial Russia and destroyed the Ottoman Empire in WWI. Then, the British and the French started 
partitioning the Ottoman-held territories with the consent of the Russia and Italy, carving out countries such as Iraq, 
Syria, Lebanon, Jordan, etc. The British-supported kingdom of Iraq was established in 1921 and gained independence 
from the UK in 1932. The carving of the Ottoman territories was done in the most bizarre manner. Mr. Mark Sykes, 
representing the U. K., and Mr. François Georges-Picot from France, placed a map on a desk, and used a ruler and a 
pencil and divided up the area into different territories that later became countries, some of which would be under 
the British influence and the others under French influence! Sykes put his signature at the bottom of that map with 
the pencil and Picot used his pen in doing so!   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        Wikipedia 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The next three pages show British Foreign Ministry officials’ reaction to the Loraine’s telegram: 
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We have not received sufficient information to be able to judge what 
is happening 
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I can hardly believe that Reza Khan would have deliberately tricked 
Sir. P. Loraine 
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A few days later, on November 24, 1924, Loraine, who appears to be very upset for being outfoxed by Reza Khan, 
dispatches a telegram to Foreign Office, Tehran, India and Bushire (Bushehr)!   

Reza Khan has now broken every pledge and has taken the law into his own hands. 

We have largely paralysed Arabistan (Khuzestan) and Bakhtiari powers of defence against attack. 
We must in common fairness now restore their liberty of action. I have therefore instructed His 
Majesty’s Consul at Ahwaz to inform Sheikh and Murteza Kuli (Gholi) Khan that I consider them 
released from their promises. 

As Prime Minister has chosen to resort to force and broken his promises to refrain there from if 
Sheikh sent his in his submission, and as he has rejected friendly advice of His Majesty’s 
Government and ignored offer of their friendly good offices in securing an amicable settlement… 
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Reza Khan has now broken every pledge and taken the law into his 
own hands 
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Loraine’s next telegram contains several important points: 

• British Foreign Secretary directs to “acquaint Persian Government with our obligation to him 
(Khazal),” 

• Loraine is warned of “dangers of direct British intervention on Persian soil,” yet he repeats his 
request for urgent dispatch of one advance battalion…  
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Loraine writes: “my difficulty hitherto has been to get any pressure to bear on Prime Minister (Reza Khan). Sheikh 
is well under my control.” 

 



Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot?         127 

…my difficulty hitherto has been to get any pressure to bear on Prime 
Minister. Sheikh is well under my control 
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And here is the response to Loraine’s telegram. 

 

Perhaps the most striking revelation can be found in the following document made by Mr. Mallet from the British 
Foreign Office: 
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It would be disastrous if the Persian Government were to obtain so complete a control of the oil 
area in Arabistan (Khuzestan)…to eclipse the local authority of the Sheikh of Mohammarah 
(Khorramshahr) and the Bakhtiari Khans. The establishment of full Persian Government authority 
in Arabistan (Khuzestan) would mean that the oil fields and pipeline would be at the mercy of a 
Persian Government which might at any time become hostile to us at the instigation of the 
Bolsheviks. Under the regime hitherto prevailing, the Sheikh of Mohammarah (Khorramshahr) 
and the Bakhtiari Khans have been able to safeguard British interests in the oil area even when 
the Persian Government has been definitely anti-British; this happened during the war when, in 
spite of a pro-German Government at Tehran, our agreements with the local chieftains in South 
Persia enabled us to keep the oilfields working and supply the British Navy with oil.  
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Telegram…it would be disastrous if the Persian Government were to 
obtain complete control of the oil area 
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The next document shows how desperate the British statemen are in dealing with Reza Khan in Khazal case. The 
change in the political attitude in the UK’s Parliament requires military withdrawal whereas “… Loraine may be able 
to do nothing with Reza Khan without resort to threats: on the other hand, it is no use to employ threats if we 
are not prepared to carry them out if necessary.”   
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134         Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot? 
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The following telegram sent to London indicates three salient points:  

1. The British agents have gotten hold of a telegram sent by Reza Khan pertaining to his military campaign 
progress.   

2. “…one particularly persistent rumor saying that Prime Minister (Reza Khan) has captured 30 British soldiers 
amongst Arab forces and refuses to surrender them to the British.”   

3. “I hear from a good source that Soviet Government offered to land troops ‘to protect Persia.’”   
 

One ponders if items 2 & 3 are true, or a psychological warfare conducted by Reza Khan. 

 

And Mr. Mallet, one of the players in the international strategic/political chess game, reveals his thoughts on the 
above report by writing:  
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One of the possible sequences of armed British intervention… might 
be the occupation of Tabriz by Russian troops 

One of the possible sequences of armed British intervention in [A]rabistan (Khuzestan) might be the occupation of 
Tabriz or Resht by Russian troops, in reality to serve the end of the Soviet Govt., but under a specious pretext of a 
desire to assist Persia to protect her neutrality. 
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Interesting statements by the Russian Ambassador in Iran published in Izvestiya: 
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Izvestia: …Persia is no longer what she was a few years ago, and that 
she may return a worthy reply to the British “ultimatum” 

And a clipping from the London Times with an important paragraph pertaining to Iran: 
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One should take into consideration the reason of British apprehension of occupation of Iran by Russians at that time 
was that India, which was the highest prized possession of British colonialism, had common borders with Iran, as 
Pakistan did not come into existence until 1947. A map in the National Geographic published in 1939, shows India 
and Iran as neighbors. 

 

On December 22, 1924, Sir Percy Loraine sends a comprehensive seven-page report to London in which he attempts 
to not only downgrade his, and by extension Britain, being outfoxed by Reza Khan, but to put the events in a positive 
light. He also tries to blame the setbacks on everybody including the statemen in London who had not heeded his 
warnings from two years prior about Reza Khan’s resolve in asserting Iran’s central government authority over 
Khuzestan province. Additionally, he blames Sheikh Khazal for not heeding the British “friendly” advice. At the end 
of the third paragraph in page 1, the British diplomat writes a duplicitous sentence, which requires special attention. 
He writes:  

The situation, as regards British action, was governed by the policy of neutrality, with a bias in 
favour of the Central Government, laid by Mr. Ramsay McDonald.     

How is it possible to be neutral and biased at the same time? The most important lesson for any non-English speaking 
person—statesman, or official translator/interpreter—here is that in international negotiations with big powers, 
extreme diligence must be employed to every single nuance, word, phrase and sentence used by the other party. 
One should always keep in mind the danger of “lost in translation” and its potential devastating consequence for a 
country. Additionally, the wealth of information, statesmanship and diplomacy contained in these seven pages is so 
immense and profound that not only does it command special attention to its details by any reader, but also makes 
it a requirement for making a course out of it to be taught for those involved in foreign relations.    
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British envoy: Khazal could not serve two masters (Britain & Iran) 
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Loraine’s secret telegram, sent about forty days later, contains his assessment of Iran and Prime Minister Reza 
Khan’s government, as well the new thinking of the British in seeing Iran as a strong, stable and developed country 
able to stand against Russians. This new policy happens to be in concordance and compatible with what Reza Khan 
desires for Iran.   

…we now have a Persian government strong enough… 

…by aiding and encouraging Persia…we should be rendering both her and ourselves the best 
possible service and forge the most potent weapon against Russian penetration.  

… impossible three years ago, is possible now because Prime Minister has created basis of internal 
security.    
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150         Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot? 

 

 

In a private letter sent from Loraine to D’Arcy, while confirming the new policy, he admits how powerless Britain 
had become in that time: 
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British envoy: …if danger arose to British lives…we should have been 
powerless to act 

The fact was that if danger arose to British lives and properties, we had not the means to afford 
protection in time. Had the danger materialized we should have been powerless to act in time.  
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Another interesting report by Loraine appropriate to be taught as a course in diplomacy and foreign relations, in 
which he reveals: 

…a Persian attempt to introduce and establish American interests in this country as a 
counterpoise to those of Great Britain and Russia. 
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Persian attempt to establish American interests as a counterpoise to 
those of Great Britain and Russia… 
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The following report, sent from Moscow, shows how great powers collude and deal over smaller countries! Only 
pages 5 and 6 relate to Iran, but due to its importance, the entire document is offered here. 
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The report sent by Loraine to London on September 29, 1925 draws a picture of the political situation in Iran during 
the last days of the Qajar dynasty when Ahmad Shah has been in Europe for almost two years. Because of the 
significance of its content, it was “Circulated to the Cabinet by direction of the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs.” 
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In the “Very Confidential” telegram transmitted by Loraine on 21 October 1925 to London, he relays what he has 
learned from the Iranian Foreign Minister about Reza Khan. 

 

Minister of Foreign Affairs said that Prime Minister was obsessed with the idea that in all Persian 
crises British influence had been felt and had prevailed, e.g. constitutional deposition of 
Mohammad Ali Shah etc., and could not believe that in this case it would be otherwise.   
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On the same day, Loraine sends another telegram, this time classified as “Most Confidential.”  

Some of the salient points are: 

• No one is really acquainted with the Prime Minister’s true intentions, nor with the extent to which 
he is prepared to press them; and there is no Persian with sufficient courage or sense of personal 
security to ask him point-blank what means to do, and insist on an answer. 

• …The parliamentary majority is a sham majority and can always be split up by maneuvering the 
fraction leaders on the lines of their personal jealousies and antipathies. The Prime Minister is the 
master of the situation; he has got his Cabinet in complete subjection and can play on parliamentary 
forces as he wishes.   

• … Minister of Foreign Affairs has never seen the Prime Minister falter in his determination to 
prevent the extension of Bolshevik influence in Persia… 

• … [Ahmad] Shah would probably consent to abdicate in return for a handsome allowance payable 
by the Persian Government… guaranteed by a third party. (I can hardly doubt that this amiable role 
of guarantor is, in the view of the Shah, reserved for His Majesty’s Government [Britain]. 

• … moderates put Persia’s relations with England absolutely in the forefront of their desiderata; they 
would be quite willing to take their cue from England… 

• The attitude of Reza Khan is certainly enigmatic.   

• If he were to thrust himself into a position where the only choice lay between a complete recoil or 
the aid of a foreign Power, there might be some risk of his throwing himself into the arms of the 
Russians…I think he is too shrewd to commit himself to such an eventuality. 

• … keeps the Russians in play in order not to lose that possible counter-weight should he find that 
British views and his own do not coincide on some matter which he considers of essential 
importance. 

• From the point of view of British interests the situation is an embarrassing one.   

• The easiest one would undoubtedly be the voluntary abdication of Sultan Ahmed Shah in favour of 
his brother, the Prince Regent… The query mark to be placed against the replacement of the Shah 
by the Valiahd…is whether Reza Khan would accept this arrangement… 

• The masses are still ignorant and prone to fanatical agitation; they thus fall easily under the 
influence of the priests, who would not be human were they to fail to take advantage of this power 
at a time when their future authority seems to be threatened. 
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The comments by the officials in London are revealing. I spent a lot of time trying to decipher the bad handwritings 
to assist the readers. The first one by Mallet reads: 

Since this despatch was written Reza Khan has overthrown the Kajar dynasty. Some Therefor, of Sir. 
P. Loraine’s questions have already been answered, but there still remains the question whether 
Reza Khan will want himself Shah or whether, after all, he will go in for a republic. The former course 
seems to be more likely, for, as Jowett once remarked, a republic cannot exist without republicans.   

 
Oliphant writes: 

It is difficult for anyone who remembers the old regime to believe that the old Princes and their 
supporters can tamely accept such a usurper. 

Even if it appears to work at first, it will be surprising if a reaction does not follow.   

Reza Khan may have been of great use as Prime Minister, see para[graph] 3 (E) about his anti- Soviet 
attitude, but if he assumes supreme power as Shah, his utility will vanish. 

There are difficult times ahead. L. Oliphant 12 Nov. 

I agree W.T. 12/11 

I do not like the prospect, but I think that Sir Percy’s attitude has been the right one. 

Our countrymen want no new responsibilities and are averse from all adventures. Concurrently a 
change has come over international relations with the advent of the League [of Nations] and we 
would not if we would carry off a situation by that high hand. So we must adopt or adapt this battle 
and say: Patience whilst they shuffle the cards.  

One could assume that the sentence “There are difficult times ahead” indicates that he, too, was not in agreement 
with Reza Khan to become Shah. Also, when he says if Reza Khan “assumes supreme power as Shah, his utility will 
vanish,” could be interpreted that at least some statemen in London were against Reza Khan’s ascendance to 
kingship.  

Further, “So we must adopt or adapt this battle and say: Patience whilst they shuffle the cards” sounds very 
ominous, as it can be interpreted as the British opposition to Reza Shah, and a plot to topple him on an opportune 
opportunity. They found that opportunity in 1941 to once again occupy Iran militarily with the help of the U.S. in 
the south and a coordinated Soviet invasion in the north under the pretense of helping Russia in the war against 
Nazi Germany, and to force him to abdicate. Very dirty political chess game! 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



178         Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot? 

 

 



Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot?         179 

 



180         Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot? 

 

 

The handwritten part of the next document reads: If Reza Khan’s coup d’état is really successful, we may look to a 
solution of many of the major points at issue between us and Persia, such as the debt question and the tariff 
differentiation on the northern frontiers. 

But there is considerable risk in Reza Khan’s move to supplant the Kajars, and it is not easy to see why he finds the 
present situation impossible.   

This Londoner, Mr. Oliphant, is wondering why Reza Shah cannot tolerate the status quo of corruption, illiteracy, 
economic ruin, backwardness…! 
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The last document for your review is the report sent by Loraine to Austen Chamberlain, who had become the Foreign 
Secretary in 1924. All the pictures of the documents in this book were edited and cropped in order to make them 
pleasing to the eye. The last page of this document shows how these documents initially looked.    

Salient points in this long and partly repetitious report are: 

…for the Kajars themselves I do not think a single tear has been shed, nor even a sigh heaved; they have been a 
mediocre lot at best… and Ahmad Shah has done nothing to earn either the affection or the respect of his people, 
who despise him for his cowardice and condemn him for his avarice and callous selfishness.   

…a change was getting more and more inevitable and an attitude of expectancy to see whether anyone would be 
strong and bold enough to effect it…Reza khan had dared and done. 

Reza Khan, as you are well aware, always 
maintained in speaking with me his firm belief in an 
orientation of Persian policy, in Persia’s own 
interests… 

…his obsessing anxiety to appear as an absolutely 
independent patriot, holding Persia’s head high 
among the other nations, and taking counsel with 
or for none but Persia… 

If, however, he applies his convictions fearlessly 
and wholeheartedly, I think he will pull through, 
and I hope that he will thereby lay the foundation 
of a more stable Persia than has existed for many 

generations. 

 

Reza Khan 
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One should not forget that in one of his foregoing assessments of Reza Khan, Loraine had written: 

“Last two and a half years have proved conclusively that none of the regular politicians are capable 
of governing the country.”   

Reza Shah, in 16 years as the leader of the country, laid the foundation of a modern Iran by adopting an ambitious 
development plan including building a modern university, army, airports, Justice Ministry, Education Ministry, a 
nationwide railroad system, without borrowing a penny from foreigners… the effects of which are still evident in 
Iran.   

It is interesting to note that the late Dr. Mohammad Mosaddegh, who at the time was a member of Majless, in 
opposition to Reza Shah’s nationwide railroad plan, said the government should build a sugar factory instead! Reza 
Shah, whose enemies tried to denigrate him by calling him an uneducated soldier, had such a vast progressive vision 
for the country to realize that transportation was vital for the economy of the country, whereas an European-
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educated politician who had lived in the modern world and had utilized the rail system there, preferred a sugar 
factory instead.     

Reza Shah’s reign came into end in 1941 when British and Soviet forces along with American invaded Iran under the 
pretense of—grossly exaggerated—German influence in Iran as well as providing military supplies to Russia, which 
was partially invaded by the Nazi Germany. The two other obvious reasons were defense of India and safeguarding 
Anglo-Persian oilfields in Iran. The British Prime Minister, Winston Churchill, U.S. President Franklin D. Roosevelt 
and Soviet dictator Joseph Stalin attended a summit in late November 1943 in Tehran. 

 

Below is a photo of Russian technicians and pilots in Abadan assembling U.S. delivered aircraft to be used in 
Stalingrad front against Germans. 

 

As no more British Foreign Office communiques pertaining to Reza Shah are available, I find my task completed 
here. However, I wish to offer you two articles by Time Magazine published in 1938 and 1941, along with a very 
interesting part of a book called Inside Asia by John Gunther, published in 1939. Parts of the book are provided for 
your review in the following pages. 
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“I am a soldier—and I love my job.” 
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Inside Asia—John Gunther writes about Persia and Reza Khan 
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A few observations: 

The above map of Asia, published in the same book in 1939, designates several countries/territories as “British 
possessions.” These are Singapore, Borneo, Hong Kong, Burma, India, today’s Pakistan, Cypress, British Somalia, part 
of Yemen, Kenya, part of today’s Jordan, Israel and Lebanon. Other countries/territories are designated as “Under 
British influence.” These are today’s Egypt, Iraq, U.S.E, parts of Saudi Arabia as well as parts of Afghanistan.  

 Iran, thankfully, is not under either category. In the eyes of a fair person, this means Reza Shah’s Iran was considered 
independent and not under British influence. 

The map also designates North and South Korea and Taiwan as “Japanese Possessions” and vast parts of China as 
“Under Japanese influence.” The fact that China, South Korea and Taiwan have not only gotten rid of colonialists, 
but also have become very modern and economically strong, gives Iranians the hope that they can make Iran 
independent, modern and economically powerful. 

(See enlarged description following.) 
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The book also mentions that Reza Shah emancipated the women in Iran. It is worth to note as a point of comparison 
that nine years prior to Reza Shah’s order of women emancipation, Ms. Jeannette Pickering Rankin, a women’s 
rights advocate, was the first woman in the U.S. elected to the U.S. House of Representatives as a Republican from 
Montana in 1916.     

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Also, three years before Iranian women were able to throw away their forced hijab, Ms. Amelia Earhart, a lioness, 
became the first female pilot to fly solo across the Atlantic Ocean from the United States to Europe. She achieved a 
lot in flying, authored many books about her flying experiences and helped the formation of an organization for 
female aviators. 

Amelia Earhart 
Smithsonian Institution 

 

Jeannette Pickering Rankin 
Wikipedia 
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Time Magazine 1941: He played both ends until they met 
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Commemoration: Funeral of the Late Reza Shah the Great 

 

Powerful is the one who is knowledgeable  
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His Imperial Majesty, Reza Shah the Great, founder of the Pahlavi dynasty 
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          His Majesty Mohammad Reza Pahlavi             His Majesty Reza Shah the Great in last days of his reign 
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                                                                                                  Princess Shahnaz Pahlavi writes to her father 

 
April 1925 

His Majesty Reza Shah the Great officially sat on the monarchy throne, and the affairs of Iran were entrusted 
to his capable hands. [The parliament of Iran, pursuant to the Constitution, declared him the Shah of Iran on 
12/12/1925. On 12/15/1925, he took his imperial oath, thus founding the Pahlavi dynasty. It is interesting 
to note that he had planned to declare a republic, as Mustafa Kemal Atatürk, also an army officer, had 
founded the Republic of Turkey in 1923. Unfortunately, tremendous opposition asserted by the Iranian 
clergy made him change his mind-Translator]  
 

From February 22, 1921 to August 25, 1941 
For twenty years and one month this brave son of Iran was relentless in creating a modern Iran. Day or 
night, he never rested in his efforts to rescue Iran and Iranians from a sinkhole of misery and misfortune, to 
revive and restore lost honors. 
Some of this genius’ achievements during 7,330 days of his reign can be summarized as: 
Revocation of Capitulation, creation of a unified and uniformed army and compulsory service, founding of 
military academy, Naval Force, Air Force, University, Bank Melli (National), creation of trans-Iranian 
Railway, Iran Radio, wireless communication system, sugar and textile factories and thousands of other 
measures to make the country a progressive land.    
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From August 25, 1941 to May 7, 1950 

World War II and the acrimony created among super powers caused the affairs of our country, like most of 
the others that were caught in the path of the war, to fall into disarray. Consequently, the late Shah resigned 
and left the country’s affairs into the capable hands of his venerable son, his majesty, Mohammad Reza 
Shah Pahlavi. Ultimately, due to mental anguish and physical frailty caused by being far away from the 
homeland and his venerable son, his majesty, Reza Shah Pahlavi, passed away. Thus, Iran was deprived of 
her grandest patriot. After nine years of distance from the homeland, a fistful of soil, of which was the source 
of his solace away from his motherland, on May 7, 1950 he was buried in his homeland’s soil in an 
unprecedented glorifying funeral procession that he so richly deserved. 
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                                          A photo of Iran’s great soldier in his younger age 
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Final days of His Majesty Reza Shah the Great (in diaspora) 
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A special train wagon carries the body of the late king to Tehran 
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The casket is placed on a platform in front of the Railway Station entrance for the funeral procession 
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His Majesty walks behind his royal father’s casket carried by various armed forces chiefs 

 

 



Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot?         217 

 

 

His imperial majesty and princes at the Railway Station Square during the funeral process 
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Military salute ceremony at the entrance of the Railway Station 
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His imperial majesty and royal princes in Pahlavi Street during the procession 

 



220         Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot? 

 

 

Mausoleum of the late Reza Shah the Great 



Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot?         221 

 

 

The casket on a canon passing the statue of the late shah in Sepah Square 
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Two photos of the cabinet members at the funeral procession 
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Photos of the cabinet members at the entrance of the Railway Station 
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Some of the cabinet ministers on the funeral day 
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   Respectable cabinet members at the late shah’s funeral 
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Another view of some of the ministers at the funeral procession. Left to right: Dr. Ali Amini, Dr. Nakhaee, Mr. 
Masoud Keyhan, Minister of Culture 
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Mr. Masoud Keyhan (left), Minister of Culture at the funeral 
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Asghar Khan Sanjabi one of the leaders of the Sanjabi tribe 
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Abdollah Khan Dezli, head of Oraman/hawraman Dezli (tribe) 
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Rasheed Agha Bahrami, one of the chieftains of Ghlakhani Gowran tribe                         

 

Chieftains of Hawraman Lahvan, Hawraman Razaab & Hawraman Dezli 
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Hassan Khan Razaabi, head of Hawraman Razaab (L), Abbas Khandani, a tribesman from Kerman (R) 
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Mr. Seyyed Fatollah Heydari one of the leaders of the Gowran tribe 

 

                     Chieftains of Sanjabi, Kalhor & Gowran tribes with Dr. Karim Sanjabi, Tehran University  
professor (first right) 
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Farajollah Beig-Koomaasi, leader of the Koomaasi tribe    
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Towfeegh Beig Lahwani one of the leaders of Hawraman Lahwan tribe 
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Pasha Khan Yasami, leader of the Gowran tribe 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



246         Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot? 

 

 

One of the tribal leaders 
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Captain Mohammad Amin Beig Lahwani, chief of the Hawraman tribe 

 

Akbar Khan Allahyaari Sanjabi 
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One of the Bakhtiyari chieftains making a speech 

 

 

Some of the tribal leaders 



Reza Shah: Puppet or Patriot?         249 

 
 

A group of tribal leaders 

 

A group of Turkman tribal leaders from the Gorgan area 
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A group of Tribal leaders from Rezaiyeh 

 

Khorasan province Turkman chieftain Khajeh Werdi khan (R) 
with Mr. Abbas Khandani, a chieftain from Kerman 
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A number of Shahsavan chieftains from Azarbaijan 

 

A number of tribal leaders 
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Heads of Sanjabi, Hawraman, Kalhor & Gowran tribes 
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Heads of the Gowran tribe  

 

Heads of Sanjabi, Kalhor & Gowran tribes with Dr. Karim Sanjabi (second right) 
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A group of tribal leaders 

 

Heads of tribes from the Gilan province 
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Three of the tribal leaders 

 

Tribal leaders of Kermanshah and Kordestan 
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Leaders of Gowran, Sanjabi & Hawraman tribes  

                               

 

Leaders of the Sanjabi tribe 
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Leaders of Sanjabi, Gowran & Hawraman tribes  

 

 

Leaders of Gowran and Hawraman tribes 
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Left to right: 1- Asghar Khan Sanjabi,2- Dr. Karim Sanjabi, 3- Akbar Khan Allahyaari Sanjabi 

 

Asghar Khan Sanjabi and Akbar Khan Allahyaari Sanjabi 
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Akbar Khan Allahyaari one of the heads of Allahyaari Khani (Sanjabi) tribes 
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A number of tribal leaders from the Gilan province          

 

A tribal leader at a shooting practice 
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A number of chieftains of Gorgan and Kermanshah 

 

Leaders of Turkman tribes of Gorgan 
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A number of tribal leaders of Kerman 

 

Tribal leaders from Rezaiyeh 
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Three of tribal leaders from Gilan 

 

 

A number of tribal leaders from Khorasan province 
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A group of tribal leaders with heads of the Ministry of Culture 

 

A group of tribal leaders with Mr. Vaheed, the deputy Minister of Culture 
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Some tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception 

 

 

Tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception at the University Club 
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Deputy Minister of Culture, Mr. Vaheed has a warm chat with a chieftain 

 

Tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception at university grounds 
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A group of tribal leaders 

 

A group of Kurdish chieftains from Rezaiyeh 
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A group of tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception at (Tehran) university 

 

Tribal leaders at the funeral 
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Another photo of the tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception 

 

A group of tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception at University Club 
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Tribal leaders in Tehran University at the Ministry of Culture reception 

 

Tribal leaders at the Ministry of Culture reception on university grounds 
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A number of tribal leaders with Deputy Minister of Culture, Mr. Vaheed 
and Dr. Mohammad Mokri, head of the Tribal Education Office      

 

 

A number of tribal leaders with Deputy Minister of Culture, Mr. Vaheed, 
Dr. Farahmand, and Dr. Mokri, head of the Tribal education Office, and 

colonel Kaafi, Tribal Military Superintendent 
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His Excellency, Dr. Shamseddin Jazayeri, Minister of Culture 
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Meet the Author 

For the last four decades, Badi Badiozamani has been concentrating his efforts in the United States on two parallel 
tracks. First, the preservation and sustainability of the Persian culture among the Iranian diaspora; second, the 
introduction and expansion of general knowledge about this humanistic culture.  

In 1991, when President George H. W. Bush ordered the U.S. military to repel Iraqi occupying forces out of Kuwait, 
Badiozamani, along with a group of concerned Iranians, attended meetings at the White House to ask U.S. 
authorities to call the Persian Gulf only by its proper name in their reports. 

During the administration of George W. Bush, when the likelihood of a military 
campaign against Iran had increased, Badiozamani authored Iran And America: 
Rekindling A Love Lost, in which he provided the history of the relations between 
the two countries, starting in 1830, when for the first time in history, two 
Americans set foot in Iran. A brief history of Iran was provided and contributions 
of Iran and Iranians to world civilization were enumerated. This was done with 
the hope of supporting prevention of a likely military attack on the country. 
Badiozamani, at his own expense, mailed 500 copies of the book to U.S. 
statesmen, from the President to Senators and members of Congress. 
Additionally, he utilized any opportunity in international conferences 
throughout the world to give a copy to high-level politicians and U.S. military 
commanders.  

During President Obama’s Presidency, Badiozamani once again stood in defense 
of the everlasting name of the Persian Gulf by collecting tens of thousands of 
signatures on an online petition to be sent to the White House.   

Badiozamani obtained Norooz congratulatory messages from various U.S. Presidents and Governors for the Iranian 
diaspora. He was also appointed to serve on various California and city of San Diego advisory boards. 

In 2003, taking advantage of a special Governor recall election in California, Badiozamani made history by becoming 
the first Iranian-American to run for Governor. In his campaign throughout California and on TV and radio interviews, 
he strived to show a positive image of Iran and Iranians to the American audiences. CNN followed him on the 
campaign and broadcast a special segment about him throughout the world. 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1ahZJ26m918 

He said that he had no illusions about overcoming the financial and political strength of some of his competitors, 
such as Arnold Schwarzenegger, whom he had challenged on CNN by saying, “Arnold is two months older than I am; 
he is twice as tall; has twice as much muscle, but I challenge him to debate on any issue at any time with half my 
brain tied behind my back!” He achieved both of his objectives in the campaign: portraying a good image of Iranians 
for Americans and showing to American-born Iranians that they should not be apprehensive about running for 
various political offices. Badiozamani takes pride in the fact that seven generations of his ancestors have all been 
educated and were writers.   
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Abdolhameed and Alieh (Mohi) Badiozamani 
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Abdolmajeed Majdolmamaalek (Maid Farrahi) and Najibeh 
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 میرزا عبدالله (عرفان) 
Mirza Abdollah (Erfan) 
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Agha Morteza Gholi 
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Agha Emamgholi 
 ملا مصطفی (از کردھای نھاوند و خرم آباد فی لی) 

Molla Mostafa (of Kurds of Nahavad & Khorramabad Fayli)  
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